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triple bottomline 

ASEAN Free Trade Agreements - 

Common Effective Preferential Treatment

Alliance of Philippine Partners 

in Enterprise Development

Advocate of Philippine Fair Trade Inc.

available-for-sale

Board of Trustees

Coco-Coir Business Integration and Development

civil society organizations

eco-enterprise

Eco-Enterprise Appraisal Rating

Eco-Enterprise Development Programming

Eco-Enterprise Development Services

Eco-Enterprise Indexing

Environmental Management Accounting

Environmental Management System

Foundation for Philippine Environment

Federation of Peoples’ Sustainable 

Development Cooperative

Fund for Sustainable Civil Society

Foundation for a Sustainable Society 

fair value through profit or loss

Gender Planning Workshop

Gubat Saint Anthony Cooperative

human resource

Integrated Cooperative Towards Unified Services

Interface Development Interventions 

Industrial Technology and Development Institute -

Department of Science and Technology 

Jaime V. Ongpin Foundation, Inc.

KFI Center for Community Development Foundation

La Trinidad Organic Practitioners Multi-Purpose Cooperative

local government unit         

    

Mindanao Alliance of Self-Help Societies-Southern Philippines

Educational Cooperative Center  

minimum corporate income tax

Millennium Development Goals

Microfinance for Eco-Enterprises Program 

microfinance institution

micro, small, and medium enterprises

Mindanao Coalition for Development

Medium Term Development Plan 2004-2010

Maximo T. Kalaw Institute for Sustainable Development

Nagkakaisang Mamamayan sa Kanlurang 

Batangas Multi Purpose Cooperative

non-government organization 

Netherlands Organization for International Development Cooperation

National Timber Forest Products

Organic Certification Council of the Philippines 

optional standard deduction

Philippine-Australia Community Assistance Program

Philippine Accounting Standards 

Pantukan Chess Club Cooperative

Peace and Equity Foundation

Philippine Assistance Development Program

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards

Philippine Business in Development

people’s organization 

Philippine Tropical Forest Conservation Fund

regular corporate income tax 

Soriano Multi-Purpose Fiber Corporation

Samahan ng Mamamayan-Zone One Tondo

Sustainable Partnerships for Eco-Enterprise Development

Sustainable Waste Management Eco-Enterprise Program

UN Civil Society Advisory Committee

Women’s Action Network for Development

World Trade Organization

MASS-SPECC

MCIT

MDG

MEEP 

MFI

SME

MINCODE

MTDP 

MTKISD

NAGKASAMAOMPC

NGO 

NOVIB

NTFP

OCCP

OSD

PACAP

PAS

PCCC

PEF

PDAP

PFRS

PhilBiD

PO

PTFCF

RCIT

SMPFC

SM-ZOTO

SPEED

SWEEP

UNCSAC

WAND

WTO

3BL

AFTA CEPT

APPEND

APFTI

AFS

BOT

COCOBIND

CSO

EE 

EEAR

EEDP

EEDS

EEI

EMA

EMS

FPE

FPSDC

FSCS

FSSI  

FVPL

GPW

GSAC 

HR

ICTUS

IDIS 

ITDI-DOST 

JVOFI

KCCDFI

LaTOP

LGU

ACRONYMS
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SOCIAL JUSTICE 
The Foundation for a Sustainable Society recognizes the need 

to address the long-standing issues of poverty, the disregard 

for basic human rights, and environmental degradation. Thus, 

FSSI believes that social justice for the poor is best achieved 

through participation and empowerment, anchored on the 

principle of equality and fairness for all.  That the promotion 

of social entrepreneurship, demonstrated through economic 

democratization and environmental justice, is best served 

by adopting an integrated business approach that includes 

access to capital by the poor, economic viability, gender 

equality, sound environmental practice, and the application 

of the benefits of enterprise for the common good.  Social 

justice through social entrepreneurship ensures that more 

people participate and benefit in economic productivity.

STEWARDSHIP 
The FSSI’s endowment is a public trust.  FSSI is a steward 

of this public trust.  This is achieved through transparent, 

prudent and diligent management of financial resources and 

its optimum use.  FSSI seeks to apply innovative fund usage 

that will maximize both social and financial returns through 

valuable entrepreneurship, at the same time ensuring 

continuing growth for the institution, equitable development 

and environmental sustainability in all its initiatives.  FSSI 

commits to put its resources into best use and enjoins its 

partners to follow suit.   

GENDER EQUALITY 
FSSI believes that development must benefit both women 

and men.  Being aware that the present social structures 

have not fully recognized women as agents of development, 

FSSI takes an affirmative action in maximizing women’s 

productive, reproductive and community participation and 

contribution to society.  FSSI believes that a healthy social 

relation can be harnessed by providing equal treatment and 

opportunities among women and men in their access to 

and control over resources, decision-making, benefits and 

rewards of development.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 
FSSI believes that sustainable development will only be 

realized if people and communities will use and manage 

resources at present in a manner that will not compromise 

the needs of future generations.  FSSI seeks to apply 

innovative solutions and technologies that will promote 

biodiversity conservation and protection of the environment.   

GOOD GOVERNANCE 
FSSI is a staunch advocate in upholding the principles 

of shared and transformative leadership and respect for 

basic human rights.  It seeks to demonstrate participatory 

and democratic processes in policy and decision-making. 

FSSI demands, in its dealings, the practice of transparency, 

integrity and accountability from all.  

CULTURE OF EXCELLENCE 
FSSI ensures continuing relevance, efficiency and 

effectiveness in the performance of its work.  FSSI will 

continue to seek and advocate for best practices in making 

a difference in the lives of the communities it serves.

OUR CORE VALUES

6 Resiliency Amidst Challenges
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WHO WE ARE

Our vision 

Sustainable economic 
development of poor 
communities in the Philippines

Our mission 

To be the leading eco-enterprise 
resource institution for the 
empowerment of poor 
communities in the Philippines  

Development requires debt relief. This is the proposi-

tion that the Foundation for a Sustainable Society  

was brought to its conception in August 1995 after 

a long, arduous, cross-sectoral and multi-level debt 

campaign by Philippine and Swiss non-government 

and peoples’ organizations.  

As a result of the close coordination and effective par-

ticipation of NGOs and POs, the Governments of the 

Philippines and Switzerland finally signed a n agree-

ment on the reduction of Philippines’ external debt. 

Under this accord, 50% of the Philippine Government’s 

outstanding export credit debt to Switzerland, amount-

ing to 42 million Swiss Francs or approximately US$34 

million at that time, was cancelled. The remainder was 

converted into Philippine pesos equivalent to US$17 

million and treasury securities. 

These were then provided by the Philippine Treasury 

as an endowment to a development facility tasked with 

using income to support initiatives of local NGOs, POs, 

cooperatives and other community-based groups — 

particularly in the area of sustainable economic pro-

duction efforts.   This development facility, now known 

as the Foundation for a Sustainable Society (FSSI) is 

taking the lead in supporting community- oriented, 

ecologically-sound, and financially-viable business 

ventures known as “eco-enterprises”.  

7FSSI ANNUAL REPORT 2009 
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OUR LOGO

As FSSI moves forward to achieve its vison 
and mission, we came up with a brand identity 
that will represent how we approach our work 
on enterprise development for a sustainable and 
empowered communities.   

Part of this development is giving birth to a 
new logo that will represent what we seek to do 
and how we do it.  

The trademark resembles synergy, collaboration 
and nurturance of FSSI to its broad range 
of partnerships.   

The three petals invoke FSSI’s triple 
bottomlines of gaining environmental, social 
and financial returns from its social investments 
among enterprises. The colors brown, green, blue 
and orange are found in the natural environment 
and holds the qualities of being dependable, 
ecological, stable and vibrant. 
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Martin Tanchuling
Chairperson

CHAIRPERSON’S MESSAGE
Resiliency is the ability to bounce back and successfully adapt to adversity.

As we look back, we found out that 2009 is a story of 

resiliency – our collective experience of ability to gather 

ourselves in times of difficulty and revive successfully to 

adapt to challenges.

At the beginning of the year, the effect of the global 

financial crisis that shook many economies has persisted 

to affect the viability of our partners with trading partners 

abroad.  As if the economic doldrums have not been 

enough, a twin-typhoon struck many of our partners 

in Luzon and a few in Metro Manila destroying crops, 

production plants, supplies and machines. Many of our 

microfinance partners were caught unexpected on how 

to support many of their microclients whose unstable 

cash flows and sources of livelihood were destroyed 

from the disasters. 

But we have met these challenges in a manner consistent 

with our commitment to reach more poor communities 

and be one with them in rising above these crises.

The Foundation for a Sustainable Society moved quickly 

to provide some breathing space for our partners’ to 

recover given the economic and environmental threats 

that we all face. We extended additional financing 

as necessary to rebuild enterprises; we have raised 

funds and leveraged our organizational resources to 

directly support in building the resiliency of our partner-

communities so they can build on new opportunities out 

of a seemingly hopeless environment. This we did so to 

protect the gains that we’ve already had in developing 

enterprises that are owned or are benefitting the poor and 

marginalized sectors of society who are most unable to 

cope up after a crisis.

The impacts of the financial and economic meltdown, the 

looming challenge of high and volatile prices of fuel and 

food, and the ever increasing threat of climate change are 

roadblocks that we see will continue to affect the way we 

do business.  Much needs to be done at these difficult 

times to help build capacities of our partners’ manage 

risks and uncertainties; transform these challenges to 

opportunities for human development and to advance 

environmental protection.  We need to integrate disaster 

risk reduction measures to build our resiliency during 

trying times.  We got to remain flexible and adaptive in 

our policies and operations so we can truly support the 

changing needs and requirements of communities in 

confronting the negative impacts of these crises.

With these lessons, FSSI moves forward into 2010  well 

placed to support our partners serve as many poor 

communities to which we are committed to do. We 

shall embark for an even stronger partnerships and 

mobilization for development. Indeed, it is in the neediest 

of times that the Foundation has proven that narrow, 

disinterested and set-in-stone strategies need to adapt 

to unexpected challenges that the poor are facing today. 

We acknowledge the strong support of our membership, 

networks, enterprise-partners of our Foundation in 2009, 

and we are looking forward to your strong support to 

help us to achieve a better 2010 and beyond. We thank 

all staff and management for your dedicated service and 

commitment and hope that 2010 will yield better result.  

We look forward to continue working with you as we 

journey on the long and rough road of development to 

achieve a better future.



10 Resiliency Amidst Challenges

MEDIUM TERM OBJECTIVES

.

.

.

.

.

Programs

Increasing support for triple bottomline 
as the standard for entrepreneurship 

Expanding the number of poor 
participating as beneficiaries and 
shareholders of eco-enterprises  

Improving patronage for 
eco-enterprise products and services

Coco-Coir Business Integration and Development [COCOBIND] Program
The COCOBIND Program intends to contribute in the development of the coco-coir sector and pro-

vide employment opportunities for coconut farmers by incorporating in its operation the components 

of business integration model development, financing, resource mobilization, product development 

and networking. It offers support to NGOs, POs and private entrepreneurs who are interested in the 

coco-coir business. 

Fund for a Sustainable Civil Society [FSCS] Program
This program provides grants to enable CSOs to engage in sustainable livelihood and eco-enterprise 

development that are managed or will benefit the poor and marginalized sectors. It also intends to 

build the capacities of the poor in decision-making on policies regarding asset reforms, development 

financing, environment and gender equity.

Microfinance for Eco-Enterprises Program [MEEP]
This program provides grants mainly to enable CSOs to engage in sustainable livelihood and eco-

enterprise development that are managed or will benefit the poor and marginalized sectors. It also 

intends to build the capacities of the poor in decision-making on policies regarding asset reforms, 

development financing, environment and gender equity.

Sustainable Partnership for Eco-Enterprise Development [SPEED] Program
SPEED intends to harness the entrepreneurial capacities of the marginalized sector through direct and 

effective delivery of appropriate financial and enterprise development services to emerging businesses 

that promote 3BL approaches. 

Sustainable Waste Management Eco-Enterprise Program [SWEEP]
SWEEP intends to provide technical and business development support and financial services to 

stimulate and accelerate the development of viable and ecologically-sound entrepreneurial activities 

in the waste management sector. Such enterprises may be providing new technologies, services or 

commodities.

HOW WE DO IT

Developing champions of eco-enterprise 
development facilitators sharing an 
organizational culture of excellence
   
Honing a stable resource base supporting 
a healthy social investments portfolio
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WHERE WE WORK

PANGASINAN

BATANGAS

ISABELA

NUEVA  
VIZCAYA

LAGUNA

ANTIPOLO

ALBAY

SORSOGON

EASTERN SAMAR

CAGAYAN  
DE ORO

NEGROS
 OCCIDENTAL

ZAMBOANGA 
CITY

ZAMBOANGA 
DEL SUR

CEBU

GUIMARAS

DAVAO 
ORIENTAL

DAVAO
DEL SUR

PALAWAN

SURIGAO
DEL NORTE

MISAMIS 
ORIENTAL

SURIGAO
DEL SUR

NUEVA
ECIJA  

CAGAYAN
VALLEY

OCCIDENTAL
MINDORO

BENGUET

LUZON

VISAYAS

MINDANAO

COCOBIND Program

FSCS Program

MEEP Program

SPEED Program

SWEEP Program
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THE YEAR 2009 AT A GLANCE

Forty six of the 68 

project proposals 

have been approved for 

disbursement worth 

PhP 327.03 million of 

social investments. The 

social investment target 

was nearly met in 2009.

AMOUNT AND NUMBER OF SOCIAL INVESTMENTS APPROVED

AMOUNT OF SOCIAL INVESTMENTS APPROVED BY PROGRAM

AMOUNT OF SOCIAL INVESTMENTS BY TYPE OF PARTNERSHIP

Amount approved in 
million pesos

Number of 
projects

Majority of social 

investments went to 

microclients hoping to 

build or scale up their 

small scale bussineses, 

followed by support ex-

tended to projects in the 

emerging agricultural 

and sustainable waste 

management sector.

Majority of social 

investments were 

devoted to existing 

partners indicating a 

renewal of commitment 

in the development of 

their eco-enterprises. 

On the other hand, 

the Foundation also 

supported new and 

additional eco-

entreprises.
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AMOUNT OF SOCIAL INVESTMENTS 
BY TYPE OF OWNERSHIP

Fifty-two percent (PhP177.39 million) of 

total social investments went to support 

partners with democratized ownerships 

such as primary cooperatives, coop 

federations and banks. Thirty percent 

(PhP 103 million) were extended to private 

MSMEs, while only 7% of the support 

were extended to NGOs and POs.

AMOUNT OF SOCIAL INVESTMENTS PER TYPE OF PROGRAM

Excluding grants, the value of social 

investments is devoted to microfinance 

program then followed by the COCOBIND, 

SPEED and SWEEP programs.
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Social investments were largely (49%) shared in Luzon areas. MEEP and SPEED 

program generally maintains projects and partners in the three island groups.

GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF SOCIAL INVESTMENTS
BY PROGRAM (IN MILLION PESOS)

GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF SOCIAL INVESTMENTS
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Microclients (110,000) borrowing money from MFIs have benefitted the most from social invest-

ments. By type of participation, microentrepreneur-owners (88.9%), workers (10%), suppliers 

(0.8%) and sub-contractors have derived benefits from social investments (0.3%).

AMOUNT OF SOCIAL INVESTMENTS 
BY TYPE OF INSTRUMENT

NUMBER OF POOR DIRECTLY BENEFITTING FROM PROJECTS 
BY PROGRAM

NUMBER OF POOR 
DERIVING BENEFITS

Nearly half of total social investments 

are in the form of loans while thirty 

percent are development deposits. 

Social investments through grants 

(10%), represents the cumulative 

support since 2004 for start-up 

livelihood initiatives. 
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OUR CONTEXT
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Harnessing the entrepreneurial 
fire alive amidst the winds of 
adversity

The ailing global economy has been recovering since 

2009, largely due to stimulus packages put together by 

developed and developing countries since late 2008. 

But growth will be uneven and sluggish all over the 

world in 2010, with low employment prospects.  

This cautionary assessment is contained in the 

Executive Summary of the World Economic Situation 

and Prospects 2010, a report released by the United 

Nations early in the year. 

As the UN report points out, developing countries 

and economies in transition are highly dependent on 

movements in international trade, commodity prices, 

and capital flows - conditions whose improvement, in 

turn, depend on the strength of recovery of developed 

countries.  

Philippine exporters, as experienced by some of 

FSSI partners, along with their counterparts in 

Indonesia, Taiwan, and even Japan, were among the 

hardest hit by the global recession because of higher 

specialization in manufactures and dependence to 

export markets. 

The Philippine government drafted an Economic 

Resiliency Plan (ERP) to offset the effects of the crisis, 

the bulk of which was earmarked for infrastructure 

and social projects.  These interventions, however, 

have not been sufficient to protect the sectors most in 

need of resiliency measures. It is as if the story of our 

country has repeating chapters of problems without 

a resolution for pro-poor development. 

Although our banks have minimal exposure to the 

Lehman Brothers collapse, but the US is a large 

economy to which the Philippines is dependent for 

foreign investments (33%), OFW remittances, and 

manufacturing inputs. Philippines is largely dependent 

on the US economy for export trading, foreign direct 

investments, remittances, tourism receipts and 

manufacturing inputs.

Weathering the crisis despite a long-
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standing problem

The bleak situation characterized by widespread 

unemployment, forcing thousands of workers each 

year to seek jobs abroad, further widening income 

inequality, stagnating agriculture and manufacturing 

industry, and unabated population growth, are daily 

backdrop to every ordinary Filipino, finding ways to 

survive and stay afloat. 

And as if these are not enough, the negative effects 

of the increasing threats of natural disasters such 

as what was experienced during Typhoons Ondoy 

(Ketsana) and Pepeng (Parma), are reminders of 

every household’s vulnerabilities to crises. Instead of 

plunging into despair, Filipinos have a natural cut for 

survival, demonstrating extraordinary resiliency in what 

otherwise could be a falling out to many. 

This display of resiliency amidst challenges is a 

story that FSSI continues to witness among many 

communities it has supported and continues to 

support.  This 2009 report is recognition of that 

determination and spirit among FSSI partners and 

communities to pull through difficult times and 

continue to be relevant to the lives and aspirations of 

their stakeholders. 

This is also a story of FSSI’s unyielding efforts to 

pursue the triple bottom-line principles of social 

equity and participation, ecological soundness and 

financial viability as a way of doing business.  The 

necessity for adhering to 3BL principles in harnessing 

entrepreneurship has not been made more obvious 

than in recent years. 

The necessity for environmental sustainability: The 

environment itself is beginning to assert, with the 

effects of climate change becoming a reality through 

calamities like typhoons, drought and earthquakes. 

The unprecedented growth of enterprise ventures 

has significantly contributed and will continue to 

adversely affect the environment to an irreversible 

state if mitigating measures will not be instituted. 

Continued externalization of environmental cost and 

gross dismissal of environmental services will yield 

unfavorable results to humankind in the long run.      

The necessity for social equity and participation: Is 

development truly sustainable if it only benefits the 

few and many remain poor? How can good relations 

continue to flourish in the long run if social and economic 

platforms remain unjust and disempowering? How can 

the poor meaningfully participate not only as providers 

of labor but as empowered citizenry with equal access 

and choices? The human capital is central in the 

development discourse and creating an environment 

that is cognizant of rights is a mutual and collective 

responsibility of the individuals, government, the 

private sector and civil society actors.  

The necessity for economic viability: Enterprises 

seeking to contribute to sustainable and pro-poor 

development need to generate profits to be able to 

sustain its social missions.

The market, for eco-entrepreneurs is not just 

the exchange of goods and services, it is also a 

battleground for alternatives -- an arena for change. 

The market is also the business of educating, creating 

awareness and developing the voice of what kind of 

society we want to live in as a nation.
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As many see opportunities in the cautious optimism 

for global economic recovery, FSSI gathers some 

important lessons underscored by the crisis that are 

important reminders to build resiliency of enterprises.  

Prudence is advisable in any enterprise, with long- term sustainability 
preferable to short-term profitability.  

Identify and develop best practice strategies. Understand the 
business and know exactly potential risks areas and what are 
needed to survive.
   
Plan ahead. Develop capacity for contingency and continuity 
planning. Integrate disaster risk reduction measures in the business 
operation. 

Increase stakeholder engagements.  Transparency with stakeholders 
during difficult times develops trust and builds on goodwill a deeper 
sense of ownership and accountability.  

Integration of social and environmental concerns is an essential 
aspect that cannot be ignored in business. Some of the avoidable 
problems in business could have been mitigated if social and 
environmental aspects were considered and addressed in the 
business operation.  

Building resiliency is not an option; it is a must. Resiliency is 
anticipating and managing uncertainties.  It is not a measure 
of not being affected by predicaments but the capacity 
to mitigate negative effects and recover relentlessly. It is 
something that we all should live not just during a one-time 
crisis, but forever.
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OUR 
DEVELOPMENT 
EFFECTIVENESS
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According to SustainAbility, the British organization 
accredited with coining the term and the vision of the triple 
bottom line over a decade ago, “The triple bottomline (3BL) 
focuses corporations not just on the economic value they add, 
but also on the environmental and social value they add
—and destroy.”  

Risks are sources for instability for enterprises and 

they are inherent in the environment. This year, how-

ever, the climate for entrepreneurship has been ex-

tremely exposed to economic and environmental 

events that are unforeseen and unplanned even to 

the most calculating entrepreneur. 

The Foundation and its partners have not walked 

through 2009 without receiving its own blows of 

storms, in the literal and the figurative sense of the 

word. 

The beneficiaries of microfinance are the micro entre-

preneurs involved in retail and agricultural business-

es, and home-based industries. Aside from informal 

lenders, microfinance is the only answer for the some 

1.78 million entrepreneurial poor in the Philippines, of 

which the Foundation seeks to help in working with 

MFIs.

Microentrepreneurs are considered to be inherently 

risky, largely due to their extreme susceptibility to 

declining economic conditions and lack of informa-

tion on their creditworthiness. During economic un-

certainties, MFIs face not only the risk of rising de-

linquencies, but also the risk of default to financial 

institutions that have become sources of financing to 

many  of these MFIs.

Some have looked at the crisis as an opportune time 

to push for reforms and new avenues for engage-

ments. Microfinance institutions see market growth 

potential from increasing overseas Filipinos with 

families begining to engage in various entrepreneur-

ial activities, both as potential MSME clients and as 

sources for productive investments for local econom-

ic development. 

Aside from quickly recomposing itself in the light of 

the global financial crisis, there are those who have 

started to reflect on the effects of climate change. 

With the recent climatic changes, MFIs especially 

those in the rural areas whose majority of portfolio 

is in agricultural production have begun to ponder 

on how their financial products become responsive 

to the vulnerabilities of their microclients to climate 

change.

Despite these scenario, the Foundation remain com-

mitted in helping in as many entrepreneurial poor and 

seeing opportunity even in the bleakest of times.
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SIARGAO BANK:
Reaping back the harvest in trying times

A massive run that followed on Siargao Bank last-
ed until the first quarter of 2009, with withdrawals 
totaling PhP10 million. It caused the loan portfolio 
of the Bank to decrease as it was adversely affect-
ed by increase in delinquent accounts. 

Managing the Bank’s liquidity was only a fraction 
of the challenge. This clipped its ability to service 
the demand for new loans and even renewals, par-
ticularly for microfinance borrowers, which in re-
cent years have accounted for about 10% of its 
portfolio.  The Bank used its loan collections to 
service the withdrawals.

The Bank has to weather several harrowing months 
of uncertainty.  It launched a campaign to win back 
depositors and assure the public that it had no in-
vestment at all in the Legacy Group.  At the same 
the time, the Bank secured from its stockholders 
and creditors, additional funds to boost its operat-
ing capital.

By the end of 2009, the Bank endured the rough 
sailing and operations return to normalcy. In fact, 
its financial position had become even stronger 
than it had been before the bank run. FSSI noted 
during its assessment of the renewal application 
of the bank, the marked increase in deposits, loan 
portfolio, and net income, while delinquency rate 
decreased during the same period.

The Bank’s efforts in making Surigao del Norte a 
progressive province by helping out in the devel-
opment of marginalized families has paved for the 
regained trust and confidence of the community. 
The implementation of social programs that ben-
efitted its borrowers and the communities where it 
operates was a solid testament to a positive com-
munity relations built through time.  

Catherine Epis, wife of an employee from the Bu-
reau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resource, was able 
to start a seaweeds farming business in 2008 
with a PhP20,000 loan to finance from the mi-
crofinance program of Siargao Bank.  From that 
first three lines, Catherine plowed back the earn-
ings into the business and grew it to currently 32 
lines.  She now employs a caretaker and three 
other workers, who each get PhP1,000 a month 
plus free meals and a 50%  share of the profits. 

Another bank client, Ma. Theresa Sandio, a 
mother with a child, got a loan of PhP50,000 in 
2007 that she used as additional working capital 
for her trading business that she started in 2005. 
She buys octupi from fisherfolks which she sells 
to public markets and restaurants in Surigao 
City.  With the help of 34 buying agents who pur-
chases products directly from fisherfolks, There-
sa was able to double her daily volume through 
an additional loan of PhP150,000 from the bank.  
She now employs two packagers, each getting 
PhP4,500 monthly with social security benefits, 
several delivery workers and a part-time book-
keeper. Not only was she able to buy a house 
and secure the education of her child, but also 
able to put up an internet cafe business that her 
husband manages.

These are a few of the success stories that Siar-
gao Bank has achieved in making a difference in 
the lives of its microfinance clients. 

However, the Legacy Group scandal which broke 
out in the last quarter of 2008 severely affected 
the rural banking sector, and put to test Siargao 
Bank’s reputation in the community.  While not 
its own doings, Siargao Bank has to regain the 
trust and confidence of the public, which are 
critical factors that can make or break banking 
operations. 

STORY OF RESILIENCE

22 Resiliency Amidst Challenges
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FSSI continues to support Siargo Bank’s microfi-
nance program to sustain its growth. The bank incor-
porated the 3BL principles not only in its corporate 
commitments but in actual financing operation.  It 
refuses to entertain prospective borrowers engaged 
in environmentally destructive activities and has pro-
actively implemented a financing program to support 
the E-Trike or Electric Tricycle, a better alternative 
to gas-fed tricycles. E-Trykes do not depend on gas 
and do not add up to noise and air pollution.  The 
Bank, in partnership with ISDA Foundation, holds 
seminars on environmental protection and preserva-
tion for prospective borrowers to create awareness 
and education.

The Bank may not have put into place the most so-
phisticated contingency plan.  It simply understands 
its business and knows what it requires to bounce 
back. It was able to harness support both from inter-
nal and external stakeholders and work out measures 
that will allow the Bank to survive. It rendered pru-
dence to work on its side.

Siargao Bank did not only manifest determination and 
resiliency to recoup from difficult and trying times.  
The clarity of their mission and role as a community 
financing institution in Surigao del Norte enabled the 
Bank to leap frog and weather the test of public trust. 
The Bank at its best of times took an extra mile to 
make meaningful contributions in the community be-
yond its expected role of extending financing.  

Indeed, doing good and doing right has its pay-offs. 
What better way to reap such harvest during trying 
times.  
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Development portfolio growth from 2008 to 2009 in-

creased by 2% which is far below the average growth 

rate of 26%. The overall collection rate has also 

dropped by 2.14% from 66.15% in 2008 to 64.01% 

in 2009. These are mainly due to the slowdown in 

some of the planned business expansion of partners 

and impairments undertaken in some ventures.  

Despite the setbacks, the Foundation has continued 

to enter into ventures as an opportunity for eco-en-

terprise model-building and replication.

From a total of 87 proposals received in 2009, 46 

have successfully passed varying levels of approvals 

worth of PhP327 million social investments for eco-

enterprises.  Of these approvals, 17% were devoted 

to new enterprises and microfinance institutions.  

However, only half of its targets had been accom-

plished in terms of actual disbursements due to dif-

ficulty from among partners to immediately comply 

with documentation requirements, or adequate li-

quidity from community savings without much de-

mand for new or expansion in local businesses. 

While the Foundation was able to meet its targets in 

terms of number of projects to be supported, there 

are areas that need improvement such as: 1) devel-

oping projects from among grassroots organizations 

that are wanting to build enterprises; 2) project moni-

toring and remedial management measures; 3)im-

proving efficiencies and quality of project appraisal; 

4) harnessing institutional knowledge assets, and; 5) 

extending proactive delivery of EEDS particularly in 

sub-sector programs and enterprises.  

Without doubt, FSSI has been unrelenting in demon-

strating its capacity in mobilizing resources for social 

investments in ventures that will model 3BL princi-

ples. However, the challenge remains in sustaining 

financial viability of enterprises primarily during eco-

nomic downturns.  This not only impacts on the ca-

pacity of enterprises to carry on improvements in its 

social and environmental aspects in doing business.  

It also poses a challenge to FSSI’s portfolio quality 

and effectiveness to manage risks, which should be 

integrated in key management processes of the insti-

tution, from project appraisal to monitoring.

MANAGING A HEALTHY BALANCE BETWEEN 
DEVELOPMENT IMPACT AND PROFITABILITY 

Table 1 2009 Project Approval Performance

Programs Amount in PhP No. of 

projects 

approved 

FSCS 3,515,748 6

SPEED 17,500,000 8

COCOBIND 3,500,000 1

MEEP 294,350,000 29

SWEEP 8,162,000 2

Total 327,027,748 46
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al processes and systems, and to make a differ-
ence in the lives of more than 900 families, pushed 
SMPFC to move forward. The unfailing belief in the 
sub-sector’s immense potential to contribute to 
environmental protection, generate employment 
in the countryside, develop local economies, and 
support sustainable agriculture, provides the bot-
tomless pool of strength for the SMPFC’s workers 
and management to get the company back on its 
feet again and again and yet again.

Business resiliency has been the ticket of SMPFC 
to undertake a proactive approach in responding to 
all the challenges and ensure operational continu-
ity. It has started to look at more efficient ways of 
doing things: putting in place appropriate policies 
and systems to ensure control and mitigate risks; 
institute necessary standards and protocols; invest 
in market and product development; and improve 
production processes, equipment and technology. 
It has begun to look at each of its plants as a self-
contained unit with its respective revenue streams 
and operations. And it is preparing itself to become 
the market consolidator that FSSI had always envi-
sioned it to be.

Transparency and stakeholder engagement is uti-
lized as a primary strategy to bridge concerns and 
expectations of the company’s buyers, workers, 
suppliers and contractors, with the company’s ac-
tual capabilities. Despite its financial constraints, 
SMPFC managed to extend some form of support 
to its workers during the period of stop-operations 
as a result of the August 2009 fire. The company 
is fully aware that consistent quality, prompt de-
livery and open communications with its buyers 
promotes goodwill and continued trust in the com-
pany’s products.

If it is of any consolation, the declining trend in 
losses over the past years is testament to such 
resilience of SMPFC. Prompted by its mission to 
deliver 3BL performance and become a model eco-
enterprise, SMPFC carries on to stay afloat and to 
explore new opportunities in the coming years.

In June 2006, FSSI decided to increase its stake in 
the coco coir sub-sector by acquiring the Soriano 
Multi-Purpose Fiber Corporation (SMPFC) as a fully 
owned subsidiary.  The Foundation envisioned the 
30-year old company, with its extensive production 
operations in Laguna, Quezon and Bicol, diversified 
product lines, and established markets both here 
and abroad, would be strengthened by the acquisi-
tion and subsequently develop the sub-sector as 
one of its major players.

The SMPFC was expected to become a market 
consolidator for the coir partners of FSSI in South-
ern Luzon and Eastern Visayas. However, the com-
pany has yet to assume this role.

In the three years since FSSI’s purchase of SMPFC, 
natural disasters, event-driven risks and man-made 
challenges have beset the company. A bad transi-
tion from the previous owner to the newly appoint-
ed management characterized the first year of the 
acquisition, resulting in tightness in working capital, 
a management shake-up involving several manag-
ers among others. Adding to the transition woes 
were two super typhoons (Milenyo and Reming) 
that brought havoc to the production plants in Bicol 
and Quezon in the latter part of 2006 -- traditionally 
the peak period of the company’s operations. 

As the company was beginning to pick itself up its 
export markets were hit by the global financial crisis 
of from 2007 to 2008. Then as new markets were 
emerging for the company’s stitched products (for 
green architecture, natural fiber padding, geotech-
nical engineering), the company had to endure two 
returned containers in 2009 due to costly errors be-
cause of weak quality control measures. As if these 
were not enough, a fire in August 2009 completely 
destroyed the company’s production unit in Lagu-
na -- again at a time when export orders and local 
bedmakers’ orders were expected to peak.

For the company to survive all these is unthinkable. 
But it has. Despite the tsunamis of difficulties, the 
company’s unrelenting spirit to move forward, to 
learn from costly mistakes and weak institution-

SORIANO MULTI-PURPOSE FIBER CORPORATION:
Unimagineable challenges, indomitable spirit

STORY OF RESILIENCE
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Achieving a balance among the three bottomlines re-

mains to be a daunting challenge to the Foundation 

and there is no fixed formula or development recipe 

for each enterprise is affected by its specific subsec-

tor conditions and local situations on how  to con-

tribute to a better environment and equitable social 

relations.

As a way of ensuring that its enterprise-partners 

integrate environmental and social bottomlines in 

their business plans, FSSI conducts eco-enterprise 

development programming (EEDP), eco-enterprise 

development services (EEDS) and eco-enterprise 

index updating (EEI). These tools and interventions 

are sources for knowledge-sharing and program 

development but are met with challenges related to 

parameters, uses and identification of relevant data. 

The Foundation continuously learns to improve these 

tools to bolster its capacity to build and communi-

cate models of eco-enterprises. 

To effectively assist enterprise-partners in meeting its 

three bottomlines, an EEDS policy was drafted and 

approved. This effectively guided the Foundation in 

proactively delivering technical and business devel-

opment support in various forms depending on the 

need of each enterprise. 

For its partners in the microfinance sector,  FSSI’s 

intervention focused in the continuation of its men-

toring program the Greening the Microfinance Sec-

tor. This program, aimed at opening green financial 

products and investments in micro eco-enterprise 

ventures. Through a series of education and men-

toring activities undertaken with partners, it resulted 

to differing levels of appreciation and implementation 

among its MFI partners.

By the end of 2009, 13 MFI partners have under-

taken the internal EMS installation and started imple-

menting their respective EM programs and projects. 

These MFIs are Agdao, ASKI, Bansalan, Gata Daku, 

GSAC, ICTUS, KCCDFI, MASS-SPECC, PCCC, 

USPD, CBMO, FICOBank and NATCCO. Further 

mentoring on EMS has been conducted to five MFI 

partners. Four have already completed more than 

50% of the documentation requirements. 

Other EEDS rendered to partners are in the form of 

grants and zero-interest loans for building manage-

ment competencies, product development, market-

ing, technical support and developing subsector 

synergies. These interventions were either requested 

or proactively offered to partner-enterprises.

Despite the tremendous need of enterprise-partners 

BUILDING OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
ECO-ENTERPRISE MODEL AND REPLICATION

26 Resiliency Amidst Challenges
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for EEDS, the Foundation delivered PhP300,000 for 

business development needs. An important lesson 

learned in delivering services for enterprises is the 

growing imperative to invite various expertise and in-

stitutional collaborations in addressing the enterprise 

and subsectors needs in an increasing challenges in 

the market.

Another insight is the necessity to calibrate the EEI 

indicators used in evaluating the level of 3BL prog-

ress among start-up eco-enterprises in order for the 

Foundation to see how it has fared in working with 

promising but challenged enterprises.

Social entrepreneurship
Social entrepreneurship has been in the country for 

the past decade. The concept of it being a viable 

model for sustainable local economies figured promi-

nently in the development practice. Two major na-

tional conferences of social entrepreneurs took place 

in 2009 of which the Foundation has been a financial 

and knowledge contributor.

The Ateneo de Manila Development Studies Program 

and PhilSEN-led social entrepreneurship conference 

enabled the sector to examine various existing busi-

ness models and discuss parameters from which 

social entrepreneurs can gauge they social, envi-

ronmental and financial performance.  The confer-

ence, entitled “Negosyo Para Sa Iba, Negosyong 

Kakaiba, Negosyo Ka Nga Ba?” was attended by 

more than 200 participants from a wide range of 

sectors including government, representatives 

from multilateral development institutions, various 

non-government organizations, members of the 

academe, students, media, representatives from 

various companies and corporate foundations, and 

individuals interested in establishing their own so-

cial enterprises. 

FSSI also provided support and guidance on is-

sues facing the fair trade sector during the Na-

tional Stakeholders’ Meeting of APFTI and PFTF. 

The national forum dubbed as “Working Together 

for a Stronger Fair Trade Voice” was instrumental 

in crafting a strategy and a policy agenda of fair 

trade practitioners and campaigners. In that forum, 

FSSI was instrumental in resonating environmental 

sustainability in the fair trade agenda along the ob-

jective of penetrating markets.

In 2009, FSSI also served as knowledge contribu-

tors in capacity-building initiatives of networks 

seeking to improve their social enterprise work 

such as the FPOP and APPEND.

Projects Delivered EEDS-Support Fund

KAAKBAY PhP100,000 fund for “Management Competency 
Building” for the competency of its supervisors  

Tumandok PhP100,000 fund approved but 75K drawn to develop 
marketing strategy and collaterals

DLC Handicraft PhP30,000 fund for participation in National Trade Fair

Bote Central PhP20,740 for coffee stakeholders meeting on Bote 
Central’s Business Development Model and formulation 
of synergy plan

1M Agrofuel Development Corp. PhP67,000  for effi cacy testing of liquid waste from 
buko wastes charcoaling process

Coconut Business Integration and 
Development Irosin

PhP10,000 for Orcullo Bicol Trade Fair

SMPFC PhP10,000 Social Development Trade Fair
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STRENGTHENING TRIPLE BOTTOMLINE 
ON THE SECTORS AND SUB-SECTORS

Microfinance Sector  FSSI embarked in updat-

ing and completing the second of five modules 

of the Greening the Microfinance Program. This 

module called “Greening Organizational Commit-

ment on Environmental Management” consists of 

basic EMS and EMA.  FSSI continued its mentoring 

process among MFI partners participating  in the 

program Post-project evaluation for RBLibon  and 

NWTF were also conducted by FSSI to draw les-

sons in eco-enterprise development. 

Waste Sector The Foundation also deepened its 

contribution in the waste subsector through re-

search and in engaging stakeholders towards 3BL 

entrepreneurship. A business operation and tech-

nology guide for organic production was presented 

to its enterprise-partners and other players in the 

organic agriculture which then encouraged to form 

an association of organic fertilizer producers.  FSSI 

also contributed to the second phase of the ISSUE 

in the development of a sanitation system that is 

economically viable, socially acceptable, and tech-

nically and institutionally appropriate. 

Cococoir Sector    An update coco-coir subsector 

research was commissioned by FSSI and and dis-

seminated to various coco-coir stakeholders in a 

conference.  The study identified emerging market 

trends and sub-sector challenges opportunities for 

development.  The insights presented to public and 

private players from that research were appreciated 

by the PCA and DOST that resulted to their com-

mitment to integrate key findings in the cococoir 

development roadmap of the government.

A learning session on the application of cocopeat 

as a viable production input for organic fertilizer 

was also held in a partners’ conference last year. 

FSSI also facilitate in partnership with SMPFC  the 

publication of a bio-engineering guidebook which 

will serve as  promotional and educational material 

for interest groups in both the government and the 

private sector, that seeks to put in practice envi-

ronmentally enhancing technologies in engineering 

and construction work. The guidebook was dis-

tributed and presented in the international environ-

mental fair which was held at SMX on March 2009.
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FSSI also assisted COCOBIND-Irosin in establish-

ing a PACAP-assisted coir project in Northern Sa-

mar in line with the programs direction of expand-

ing its coco-cluster networks.

 

Other subsectors    A coffee business model 

roundtable workshop was held in October 2009 

with Bote Central, an eco-enterprise partner, as the 

main organizer wherein a synergy plan among oth-

er players in the subsector was formulated.  This 

effort hoped to create an orchestrated effort among 

low-income farmers, roasters and business sup-

port entities to enhance the value of home-grown 

coffee beans. 

The NAGKASAMA MPC  has also received assis-

tance in the conduct of a Sugar Industry Stakehold-

ers Forum on 2010 Tariff Reduction in collaboration 

with PhilDHRRA, NATCCO, PDAP,  and CARRD. 

The project involves a commodity-approach to or-

ganizing, capacity-building and enterprise devel-

opment of about 300 sugar farmers. The over-all 

objective of the project is to increase the capacities 

of sugar farmers to enable them to effectively en-

gage the mainstream market thru trading of sugar 

amidst the threat of cheaper influx of commodities 

as a result of implementing zero to five percent (0-

5%) tariff on products and commodities under the 

AFTA-CEPT Sensitive List. 

FSSI also supported a policy conference of rural 

electrification cooperatives convened by FDC. Par-

ticipants resolved to reclaim electricity as a public 

good, to defend the community-owned coopera-

tive model of national electrification against corpo-

rate takeover and to repeal the EPIRA law which 

apparently made it difficult for rural cooperatives to 

become sustainable. Among the resolutions is for 

the sector to move towards community-based and 

renewable sources of energy.

FSSI also supported the crafting of a unified policy 

agenda of marginalized cooperatives in war-strick-

en Mindanao .  The 1st Mindanao Cooperative 

Peace Forum organized by Cooperative Develop-

ment Council of Cagayan de Oro City, Inc and at-

tended by leaders of cooperatives owned by IPs 

and farmers on Oct 29, 2009 resulted to improved 

dialogue towards better access to resources, food 

security and human resource development in the 

cooperative sector in the region. It is hoped that 

the forum would have opened opportunities for 

new sub-sector development adopting sustainable 

agriculture and promotion of halal foods. 

A guidelines for selecting sub-sectors was within 

FSSI was developed for further discussion from 

which the 3BL can best be derived. 

While being instrumental in fortifying subsectors, 

capturing the 3BL impact of individual projects still 

remains to be seen especially among microfinance 

partners.
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years. Hence, just months after the typhoon, TWH 
was back on its feet. Assistance from many well-
meaning individuals and organizations were well 
regarded but what probably contributed put TWH 
back on track is the unwavering perseverance of 
its leaders and personnel to prove its worthiness 
in pursuing its mission.

Despite the storm, it was a feat for TWH to be able 
to increase its production in 2009. It has created 
additional 78 jobs and has increased its sales by 
40% from PhP28 million to PhP42 million. TWH 
actually improved its productivity per person by 
19% in 2009. Their story shows that enterprise re-
siliency is also achieved by continuing innovation 
to propel the growth of its business ventures as 
part of its bigger mission for the PWDs.

TWH was founded in 1973 by Sister Ma. Paula 
Valeriana Baerts, a Belgian nun, in response to 
the need to help PWDs re-integrate in society. 
It is now one of the largest organizations of the 
disabled in the country with 24 affiliate homes. A 
major program aside from advocacy is livelihood 
support for PWDs. The TWH compound in Cainta 
operates four workshops that give livelihood sup-
port and training to PWDs, while also providing 
them with actual employment and income.

The partnership with FSSI started in April 2009 
through a credit line which helped TWH increase 
its production capacity. A grant assistance was 
also extended to TWH in December 2009 to help 
speed up its business rehabilitation after being af-
fected by Typhoon Ondoy.

Thirty seven years ago, an organization was born 
to rehabilitate and train persons with disabilities 
to be productive and self-reliant members of the 
society.

Tahanang Walang Hagdanan, more famous for its 
living quiarters for the differently-abled, has devel-
oped its crafts to metal, woodcraft, needlecraft, 
packaging and handmade paper making. Through 
the years, TWH has successfully penetrated the 
market due to the quality of its products and good 
business planning. 

Like any enterprise, it has travel on the rough 
roads of entrepreneurship and Typhoon Ondoy 
has proven to be one of the trying times the enter-
prise has ever faced.

This caused a staggering PhP5.4 million of losses 
in inventory of finished, in-process, and raw ma-
terials for TWH in 2009. It was by far one of the 
toughest tests endured by the organization as 
it was the first time that its compound was ever 
flooded.

Waist-deep waters submerged most of the office 
equipment and workshop machines which also 
forced many of the persons with disabilities living 
(PWDs) and working in the workshops scamper-
ing towards the only building with a second floor 
located at the farther end of the complex. 

The calamity left emotional dent among the 
PWDs, and also forced TWH’s workshops to a 
standstill for many weeks. But resiliency is what 
helped found and kept TWH running all these 

TAHANANG WALANG HAGDAN:
Steering the wheels of change

STORY OF RESILIENCE
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INCREASING PATRONAGE FOR 
ECO-ENTERPRISE PRODUCTS 
AND SERVICES

The ultimate support for eco-enterprises to flour-

ish is to ensure that their products and services are 

consumed. For what is there for the Foundation to 

sustain if eco-enterprises cannot even have a fair 

share of the market? 

Market share of eco-enterprises is indicator of sales 

and of profitability. But there is more. In a market 

dominated by advertisements justifying relentless 

buying, a market share of eco-enterprises indicates 

a shift in consumers’ preferences for a sustainable 

world. 

For this reason, the Foundation participates in social 

marketing activities to increase the awareness of 

consumers on the need for ethical buying and what 

3BL products and services are available in the mar-

ket. With funding support from FSSI, the PFTF and 

APFTI led simultaneous regional activities including 

two educational fora and trade fairs in Manila and 

Cagayan de Oro. 

The Foundation also facilitated the participation of 

Soriano Eco-Fiber to the 2009 Eco-Products Inter-

national Fair (EPIF) organized by the Asian Produc-

tivity Organization were it was able to meet its target 

clients such as engineers, gardeners and industry 

leaders. It was also in that event that the bio-engi-

neering manual for coconets was presented.

The FSSI also facilitated the entry of four of its part-

ners namely: Tahanang Walang Hagdan, Kaakbay 

Entre-Workers’ Cooperative, Al Jamelah and So-

riano Eco-Fiber to the NGO Trade Fair and Exhibit 

at the TriNoma Activity Center in Quezon City from 

December 14-16, 2009 during the Social Develop-

ment Celebrations.

The Foundation also assisted Tumandok Crafts Inc. 

in its brand strategy, production of marketing collat-

erals and developing channels for distribution. 

The infomercial produced by FSSI to raise the 

consumers’ awareness on ethical buying, “Let us 

change the world”, has been an effective teaching 

supplement in many activities of fair trade advo-

cates nationwide. In addition, the Foundation also 

began leveraging social media to disseminate sub-

sector studies generated from various partnerships. 

It seeks to promote its work through video and pho-

tos to its extended network of ethical consumers, 

researchers, and campaigners for economic justice 

and sustainable agriculture.

For three straight years, the Foundation has sup-

ported Philippine Business In Development (Phil 

BiD) Challenge, an annual business competition 

hosted by PBSP. Its continued membership in the 

Technical Working Group composed of reputable 

financing institutions and corporations has become 

a learning venue for corporate managers and de-

velopment practitioners to gain perspectives and 

improve the parameters of a viable business that in-

clude bottomlines that measure environmental and 

social contributions. In the recent PhilBiD challenge, 

FSSI also advocated for the calibration of the se-

lection criteria and inclusion of a Special Award for 

Best 3BL Business Plan to recognize initiatives of 

small producers adhering to 3BL principles.
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POOLING 
RESOURCES 
TO ENABLE 
ECO-ENTERPRISES
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CSO –managed enterprises, due to its nature to be in the juvenile enterprise stage have limitations to insti-

tutionalize critical managements systems and to access needed capital from financial institutions to propel 

growth. Ventures of eco-entrepreneurs that are already generating income are not shielded from negative exter-

nalities such as unfair competition that are prevalent in the existing trade system. Some stable eco-enterprise 

can also be vulnerable to nature’s wrath.  As experienced by partners, the twin storms, Ondoy and Pepeng have 

ravaged some of the Foundation’s microfinance and enterprise partners.  However, an eco-entrepreneur does 

not falter too easily but instead immediately looks for ways to bounce from crises. 

All of these factors impact on the ability of eco-enterprises to achieve and sustain their triple bottomlines.

In this respect, the Foundation whose social investments is foremost in the form of  loans  mobilized resources 

to support initiatives that will help demonstrate support to building resiliencies of communities and model sus-

tainable livelihoods among poor communities. Two proposals have been approved amounting to a total of 

PhP63.179 million worth of grants from the Swiss Interchurch Aid,  Swiss Solidarity and the European Com-

mission.  

The Foundation was also able to fuse in additional funds for PATAMABA, an existing enterprise partner com-

posed on informal workers. Through a US$5,000.00 grant from Western Union Foundation, 45 individual mem-

bers, majority of which are women were able to undergo training on gender sensitivity, simple bookkeeping and 

basic entrepreneurship, and organization and leadership.  The project also enabled the beneficiaries to build 

new or expand their existing small enterprises related 

to rice and production, dried fish and vegetable trad-

ing, hog raising, retail stores, home-based food pro-

cessing, scrap materials trading and retail trading of 

ready-to-wear clothes.

FSSI facilitated a disaster agriculture rehabilita-

tion project with existing enterprise-partners to en-

able poor farmers in Benguet, Cagayan and Isabela 

provinces cope with the impacts of typhoon Pepeng 

(Parma). The Foundation pulled in ASKI, JVOFI and 

Kapatagan to partner with FSSI in implementing the 

project that seeks to support the rehabilitation of at 

least 1,427 farming families through provision of agri-

cultural production inputs such as seeds and fertiliz-

ers and materials for repair of farm infrastructure. The 

project also aims to generate savings among affected 

farmers by opening access to zero-interest agricul-

tural support which otherwise would be availed from 

traders at usurious rates. In the long term, it hopes 

to cushion the impact of huge losses in household 

income and address food security issues due to cli-

mate change.  

The organizational and financial capacity of FSSI to 

meet administrative requirements of relatively big-

ger funding organizations and to provide counterpart 

funds which CSO-managed enterprises would find 

it difficult to provide are assets that were mobilized 

to generate funds for the Foundation’s grant making 

facility. It has forged partnerships with FPE, PTFCF 

and PEF to leverage resources with the European 

Commission for a project in the province of Isabela 

that seeks to integrate the critical aspects of strate-

gic governance, forest management and protection 

and enterprise development.  

The Foundation ensured that new projects are rel-

evant to its strategic objectives and that it meets 

the management requirements for implementation. 

FSSI is able to harness other local resource institu-

tions to support and enhance complementation to 

ensure synergy and integrated development inter-

ventions to poor communities. 

However, these new projects have increased the 

demand for grants contribution of FSSI in the form 

of counterpart funds on top of its annual commit-

ment of PhP5 million annual allocation for the FSCS, 

its grantsgiving program. Likewise, the global finan-

cial and economic crisis delimited the capacity of 

local resource organizations to provide additional 

financial commitments in new ventures. 

Although new partnerships are ways to influence 

and promote 3BL to partners and members it also 

have setbacks to FSSI in relation to the cost of de-

veloping programs and meeting additional human 

resource requirements.
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ADVANCING 
ADVOCACIES 
AS A SOCIAL
ORGANIZATION
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Economic empowerment of marginalized communities requires changes in prevailing policies and practices 

that causes their discrimination. The thrust of the Foundation is to initiate collaboration with organizations and 

networks to increase stakeholders’ awareness, improve their capacities and contribute to policy development 

processes that affect the country’s environmental sustainability, social equity and economic viability.

The Foundation increased its participation and role in policy development processes. It has contributed in the 

discussions as member of the UNCSA as a platform for civil society organizations to engage government and 

donors on development priorities. It has also engaged in climate change discussions in different networks to 

learn as a resource institution and to raise discussions on the impacts to small producers and how poor liveli-

hoods are affected. At the time when world leaders were discussing new commitments to reduce carbon emis-

sions in Copenhagen last year, FSSI walked with basic sectors as part of the PMCJ in calling for developed 

countries pay climate debt obligations.

A forum participated by members, enterprise-partners and media was organized in June 2009 to enlighten its 

stakeholders on the global financial crisis that debilitated rich and poor economies. Reputable economists from 

different perspectives have shed light on the issue which facilitated discussions among development practitio-

ners and entrepreneurs on ways to best respond or adapt to the situation.

Brought about by the increasing need to find alternative ways at financing development including resources 

for climate change adaptation and mitigation, FSSI in partnership with FDC held a forum to showcase  existing 

debt-swap arrangements in the country. The FSSI, 

with FPE, PFTFC and economic justice campaigners, 

were able to lay down options and principles for a 

just and sustainable debt strategy. A debt swap was 

among the identified possible options to reduce ex-

ternal debt for social impacts.

In the context of an unpopular government and an 

anticipated national elections in 2010, FSSI engaged 

in initiatives that sought to develop informed voting. 

Economic empowerment is dependent after all on 

leaders which decide how and to whom resources 

should be allocated to.

The 2009 Social Development Celebrations led by 

the  CODE-NGO and the PEF supported by FSSI 

with other organizations, enabled CSOs to raise criti-

cal development concerns to candidates running for 

the topmost leadership position through a presiden-

tial candidates’ forum. It was also a vehicle to inform 

the public on the perspectives of presidentiables re-

garding developmental issues advocated by NGO 

networks and coalitions, especially the youth sector. 

In a separate initiative, FSSI also contributed to PETA’s 

voters’ education campaign through the staging of a 

musicale entitled “Si Juan Tamad, Ang Diyablo at ang 

5 Milyong Boto” on Oct 12, 2009. The play sought to 

open the eyes of the youth as change agents by par-

ticipating in the political processes either by informed 

voting and community work. 

The FSSI also increased its engagement with the 

media either to inform the public on policy issues af-

fecting sustainable development or to promote eco-

enterprises. There is an increase in discussion of on 

eco-entrepreneurship or issues surrounding it in online 

and print news, radio and television.  The media brief-

ings in celebration of the World Fair Trade Day and 

the pending legislation supportive of a nuclear energy 

facility being packaged as a clean energy option were 

both actively participated by leaders and enterprise-

partners of FSSI and networks.

Issues affecting economic empowerment of mar-

ginalized sectors are ceaseless and forthcoming. To 

be effective and responsive amid limited resources 

for advocacy, the Foundation has yet to identify key 

strategic policy areas with its stakeholders to develop 

meaningful interventions and form strategic partner-

ships.



36 Resiliency Amidst Challenges

OUR 
GOVERNANCE
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Our strength lies in our ability to understand our triple bottom-
lines of generating environmental sustainability, social equity and 
financial soundness in various perpectives -- as we are coming 
from different fields in social work. Our diversity can sometimes 
make it  difficult to agree on things, but is also enriching in many 
ways in finding appropriate solutions to the challenges in achiev-
ing sustainable economic production.

To ensure effective decision-making, the Foundation improved its policies and systems 

to effectively  to guide the delivery of services to partners in achieving the triple bottom-

line principles. Efforts towards knowledge build-up was continually undertaken through 

management, program reporting and in ensuring adequate documentation are gener-

ated in the objective of improving development intervention.
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Improving human resources  

FSSI strived to develop its human resource by creat-

ing an environment that is conducive for continuous 

learning, drive for excellence and clear accountabili-

ties.  A revised individual performance management 

system and institutional rewards and incentive sys-

tem had been crafted to align individual and institu-

tional goals and to foster better feedback processes 

that will facilitate developmental aspects of a perfor-

mance review. 

With the objective of fostering a work-life balance 

and reducing its carbon footprints, FSSI has ex-

tended the implementation of a Four-Day Workweek 

which it initially piloted for two months in 2008. As 

a result, most staff expressed that they were able 

to spend more time for family, friends and other so-

cial functions. In terms of reducing its environmental 

impacts, FSSI was able to reduce its electricity con-

sumption by 15%-22% and its water consumption 

by 45% from 2008. 

Opening doors for dialogue 

One of the major initiatives of the Foundation in 

2009 was the conduct of four major conferences 

convening our enterprise-partners. These meet-

ings, not being regular Foundation activities, gave 

enterprise-partners the opportunity to deepen their 

3BL knowledge and commitment, network and 

learn from other projects. It created a mechanism 

for enterprise-partners’ to share their wealth of ex-

periences and expertise as valuable inputs in pro-

gram development. 

In general, the partners’ conferences recognized 

the importance of advocacy as they develop their 

social enterprises, the need for retooling their 

knowledge and understanding about 3BL princi-

ples, expand appropriate approaches to model 3BL 

through sharing of business practices and environ-

mental management technologies. Dialogue with 

partners also opens up opportunities for business 

linkages and resource mobilization. Such process, if 

regularly implemented would enhance a relationship 

that goes beyond that of between a grantee and a 

grantor; an investor and investee.
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Financial management 
 

The FSSI has ensured efficient cash flow manage-

ment which optimizes investment returns and meet-

ing funds disbursements requirements to develop-

ment projects. Its improved compliance to internal 

control systems and standards protocols of all finan-

cial transactions.

While managing loan delinquency and ROPOA man-

agement remains to be a major challenge, appropri-

ate remedial measures are continually undertaken.  

However, it is recognized that the Foundation needs 

to further strengthen its capacity to manager risk 

and uncertainties particularly in the light of continu-

ing economic vulnerabilities and threats of climate 

change.

increasing delinquency particularly among new ac-

counts had been identified as a strategies for 2010.

Environmental and gender mainstreaming 

 
The environmental management and gender focal 

teams are institutional structures in the Foundation 

established to ensure that its bottomlines on gender 

equality and environmental soundness are achieved. 

Each team has its plans and members. 

The internal EMS implementation in FSSI office op-

eration was started way back in 2007.  An environ-

mental management program focused on energy 

reduction, solid waste reduction and management, 

ink reduction and paper reduction has been crafted 

as priority environmental aspects. During the current 

year, the EMS team has started the formal docu-

mentation of resource consumption of the Founda-

tion as a basis for managing its carbon footprints 

and  was able to finalize operational procedures on 

energy reduction and solid waste management.

A gender mainstreaming plan was formulated which 

identified developing policies, people, programs and 

enabling mechanisms as focus areas for implemen-

tation.  At least one enterprise in each of the pro-

grams are to be piloted for gender mainstreaming 

in 2010.  Likewise, the Foundation consulted with 

other development agencies on developing param-

eters to ensure gender equity in enterprise-related 

projects. 
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COMMITTEES

OUR PEOPLE

Alliance of Philippine Partners in Enterprise Development (APPEND)
Association of Foundations (AF)
Convergence for Community Centered Development (CONVERGENCE)
Federation of People’s Sustainable Development Cooperative, Inc (FPSDC)
Freedom from Debt Coalition (FDC)
Green Forum Philippines (GF)
Swiss Association for International Cooperation (HELVETAS)
Mindanao Alliance of Self-Help Society — Southern Philippines Education 

Center for Cooperatives (MASS-SPECC)
Mindanao Coalition for Development (MINCODE)
National Confederation of Cooperatives (NATCCO)
National Council of Churches in the Philippines (NCCP)
National Council for Social Development (NCSD)
National Secretariat for Social Action (NASSA)
Partnership of Philippine Support Service Agencies (PHILSSA)
Philippine Business for Social Progress (PBSP)
Philippine Network for Rural Development Institute (PhilNet-RDI)
Philippine Partnership for the Development of the Human 

Resources in Rural Areas (PHiLDHRRA)
Swiss Interchurch Aid (HEKS)
Philippine Cooperative Federation (PCF)
Women’s Action Network for Development (WAND)

INTERNAL AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

CHAIRPERSON:

Virginia Juan, APPEND
MEMBERS:

Norman Jiao, AF     
Wilfredo Dimamay, NATCCO
Aurora Villaviray, DoF

INVESTMENTS AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

CHAIRPERSON: 

Lauro C. Millan, NCCP
MEMBERS: 

Felix Tañedo, HELVETAS
Gil Salazar, PBSP 
Nap Reymunde, MINCODE 
Amie Gonzalez, PCF 
Jennifer Cruz, PHILSSA                                              
Aurora Villaviray, DoF

THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY
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Martin Tanchuling, FDC 
Chairperson 

Sam Ferrer, Green Forum
Vice-Chairperson

Florencia Dorotan,WAND 
Corporate Secretary

June Rodriguez, Convergence 
Auditor

Lauro Millan, NCCP 
Treasurer

Mercedes Castillo, PhilDHRRA 
Member 

Barbara Salazar, HEKS 
Member

Aurora Luz Villaviray
Department of Finance

Ex-Officio Member 

Atty. Alex Enriquez 
Asst. Corporate Secretary 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

PROJECTS COMMITTEE 
CHAIRPERSON: 

Sam Ferrer,  Green Forum
MEMBERS: 

Barbara Salazar, HEKS  
June Rodríguez, CONVERGENCE  
Florencia Cassanova-Dorotan, WAND 
Christy Rowena Plantilla, FPSDC  
Reuel Velarde, PhilNet-RDI  
Lauro C. Millan, ECLOF
Carlito Santos, NASSA  
Virginia Juan, APPEND
Wilfredo Dimamay, NATCCO
Erma Ramos, PHILDHRRA
Betta Socorro-Salera, PCF
Aurora Villaviray, DoF

COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND ADVOCACY

CHAIRPERSON: 

Mercedes Castillo, PHiLDHRRA
MEMBERS: 

Noel Embing, APPEND  
Carlito Santos, NASSA                                             
Dick Balderrama,  PHILSSA                                  
DaniDaniel, FDC
 Aurora Villaviray, DoF

INTERNAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

CHAIRPERSON: 
Florencia Cassanova-Dorotan, WAND
MEMBERS: 

Barbara Salazar, HEKS
June Rodríguez, CONVERGENCE
Virginia Juan, APPEND
Aurora Villaviray, DoF

41FSSI ANNUAL REPORT 2009 



42 Resiliency Amidst Challenges

AUDITOR’S REPORT



43FSSI ANNUAL REPORT 2009 43FSSI ANNUAL REPORT 2009 



44 Resiliency Amidst Challenges

FOUNDATION FOR A SUSTAINABLE SOCIETY (FSSI), INCORPORATED

(A Non-stock, Non-profit Organization)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
(Amounts  in Philippine Pesos)

        Notes                     2009                               2008               

A  S  S  E  T  S

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents         4   P                 15,915,356   P               17,590,275 
Loans and other receivables - net         5                    111,647,052                     111,938,132  
Held-to-maturity investments         7    107,880,000                  100,280,000

Total Current Assets                    235,442,408                  229,808,407

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Loans and other receivables - net         5                      78,794,832                       80,825,258  
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss         6                        8,441,087                         8,162,315  
Available-for-sale financial assets         8                    383,242,975                     375,355,478  
Advances to and investments in subsidiary and            

        9 
                    

                     39,411,619   

                     
                   53,510,423       associate - net

Property and equipment - net        10                      22,123,269                         5,333,213  
Investment properties        11                      34,320,559                      34,320,559  
Other assets - net        12        6,576,873                      5,914,200

Total Non-current Assets      572,911,214                  563,421,446

TOTAL ASSETS   P   808,353,622   P             793,229,853

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Unused project funds        13   P                     751,847    P                 2,435,056  
Accounts payable and other liabilities        14                       5,254,847                        2,534,277  
Income tax payable        19                              9,951                           13,047

Total Current Liabilities        6,016,645                      4,982,380

FUND BALANCE
Members’ contribution                            85,500                            85,500  
Grant                   454,822,597                   454,822,597  
Accumulated fair value gains (losses)                       9,187,118   (                  3,738,109 )
Cumulative excess of revenues over expenditures                   338,241,762                  337,077,485

Total Fund Balance                   802,336,977                  788,247,473

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE   P  808,353,622   P             793,229,853

See Notes to Financial Statements. 

STATEMENTS OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION



45FSSI ANNUAL REPORT 2009 

FOUNDATION FOR A SUSTAINABLE SOCIETY (FSSI), INCORPORATED

(A Non-stock, Non-profit Organization)
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Notes                 2009                               2008            

REVENUES
   Finance income 16   P               53,661,149      P              61,778,013  
   Grants 15                      1,984,734                                               3,747,765 
   Others                         407,686                          132,689 

                   56,053,569                     65,658,467 

EXPENDITURES
   Finance costs 16                    29,921,471                      21,724,428  
   Salaries and employee benefits 18                    10,481,034                      10,077,431
   Project and developmental grants 17                      4,281,243                        5,260,996 
   Meetings and conferences                      2,721,611                                               2,393,332  
   Information, communications 
               and advocacy

                     2,067,590                           370,355

Project monitoring and development
   Professional fees

                     1,416,332    

                     1,177,724

                    2,097,771   
                       698,847

   Depreciation 10                         588,237                      1,178,971
Security services                         489,821                             492,857

   Transportation                          272,954                         722,572  
   Miscellaneous                      1,270,506                      1,522,231    

                   54,688,523                    46,539,791  

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES
   BEFORE INCOME TAX                      1,365,046                    19,118,676   

TAX EXPENSE 19                         200,769                        120,147  

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
             Net unrealized gain (loss) on

    8

   P                1,164,277   P              18,998,529 

                          available-for-sale financial assets                   13,753,097 (                 26,573,728 )
    Reclassification to profit or loss (                      827,870 )                   11,559,597  

                  12,925,227  (                 15,014,131 )

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    P             14,089,504    P                3,984,398  

 
See Notes to Financial Statements. 

STATEMENTS OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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FOUNDATION FOR A SUSTAINABLE SOCIETY (FSSI), INCORPORATED

(A Non-stock, Non-profit Organization)
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Notes 

MEMBERS’ CONTRIBUTION   P                 85,500    P                  85,500  

GRANT 1              454,822,597               454,822,597  

ACCUMULATED FAIR VALUE GAINS (LOSSES)

Balance at beginning of year (                3,738,109 )                11,276,022

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year      8                12,925,227    (             15,014,131 )  

Balance at end of year                 9,187,118   (               3,738,109 )    

CUMULATIVE EXCESS OF REVENUES
     Balance at beginning of year
  

             337,077,485              318,078,956

Excess of revenues over expenditures for the year                  1,164,277                18,998,529  

                 

Balance at end of year             338,241,762               337,077,485  

   

TOTAL FUND BALANCE   P        802,336,977   P         788,247,473

2008

See Notes to Financial Statements.

2009

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE
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FOUNDATION FOR A SUSTAINABLE SOCIETY (FSSI), INCORPORATED
(A Non-stock, Non-profit Organization)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

  Notes              2009                            2008               

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Excess of revenues over expenditures before income tax              P             1,365,046                 P         19,118,676  
Adjustments for:
Interest income 16   (            48,237,331 )             (          50,516,275 )
Impairment losses 16                           27,511,035                         16,869,376 
Unrealized foreign currency gains-net       16 (                 876,591 )             (            8,609,170 )  
Gain on sale of available-for-sale financial assets       16             (                 820,022 )             (               782,112 ) 
Depreciation 10  588,237                           1,178,971 
Fair value gains (losses) on financial asset                              
                  at fair value through profit or loss
Gain on disposal of property and equipment

      16   (                 513,551 )  

                 -                   

                            219,218 
            (_  _             2,584 )

Operating loss before working capital changes (            20,983,177 )    (          22,523,901 )
         Decrease (increase) in loans and other receivables
         Increase in other assets
         Decrease in unused project funds
         Increase in accounts payable and other liabilities

           (              2,961,902 )                            3,570,129 
(                 662,673 )           (               333,194 )
(              1,683,209 ) (            2,327,433 )

             2,720,570              1,443,357     
Cash used in operations (            23,570,391 )  (          20,171,042 )
Cash paid for income taxes (                 203,865 ) (               117,739 )

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities (            23,774,256 )   (          20,288,781 )

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received                           40,604,175                           8,684,646
Acquisitions of property and equipment 10            (            17,381,814 )             (               427,654 )  
Acquisitions of held-to-maturity investments            (              7,600,000 )                   (            8,900,000 )  
Increase in available-for-sale financial assets                             5,857,752                         25,958,886 
Decrease in advances to and investments in subsidiary and              

(                 495,667 )

                          
                            -                  associate

Increase in financial assets at fair-value-through profit and                                

                               234,779       

                            -
     loss
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment                                    3,521                                   2,585  
Increase in investment properties                                -                                        250,755

Net Cash From Investing Activities                           21,222,746                          25,569,218  

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents                                876,591         (               715,654 )

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS              (             1,674,919 )                            4,564,783   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR                            17,590,275                          13,025,492  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR              P            15,915,356              P        17,590,275                         

Supplemental Information on Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:     

In 2008, the Foundation foreclosed a parcel of land held as collateral for a project loan receivable amounting to P2.2 million (see Note 11).  Also in 2008, the Foundation entered into a 
lease-to-own arrangement for the parcel of land foreclosed in previous years amounting to P2.3 million which was accounted for by the Foundation as finance lease. Outstanding bal-
ance of the finance lease receivables amounted to P2.0 million and is presented as part of Loans and Other Receivables account in the statement of financial position (see Note 5). 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOUNDATION FOR A SUSTAINABLE SOCIETY (FSSI), INCORPORATED 

(A Non-stock, Non-profit Organization)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008

(Amounts in Philippines Pesos)

1. ORGANIZATIONAL INFORMATION

 
Foundation for a Sustainable Society (FSSI), Incorporated 
(the Foundation) is a non-stock, non-profit organization 
registered with the Philippines Securities and Exchange 
Commission on September 6, 1995.  The Foundation is presently 
engaged in providing financial and non-financial services 
by means of grants,guarantees, loans and equity infusion to 
community-based eco-enterprises.  The Foundation holds 100% 
ownership interest in Soriano Multi-Purpose Fiber Corporation 
(SMPFC), a company also incorporated in the Philippines and is 
engaged in the processing of coir fiber and by-waste products.
 
On September 6, 1995, the Philippine Government, through the 
Department of Finance, granted P454.8 million consisting of 5% 
in cash and 95% in government securities to the Foundation 
from the proceeds of a debt cancellation under the Bilateral 
Agreement on the Reduction of External Debt entered into 
by the Philippines and Switzerland on August 11, 1995.  On 
December 16, 2003, the Swiss Government, in a joint statement 
by the Embassy of Switzerland represented by the Board of 
Trustees (BOT), expressed its decision to exit from the BOT of the 
Foundation.  The decision was a result of a vote of confidence 
in the Foundation’s management to continue its operations 
of empowering various marginalized communities in the 
Philippines.
 
The Foundation’s registered office, which is also its principal 
place of business, is located at Unit E, 46 Samar Avenue corner 
Eugenio Lopez Street, South Triangle, Quezon City.

The financial statements of the Foundation for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 (including the comparatives for the year 
ended December 31, 2008) were authorized for issue by the 
Foundation’s BOT on September  1,  2010.  
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the 
preparation of these financial statements are summarized below.  
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1    Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements 

(a)     Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards

The financial statements of the Foundation have been prepared 
in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
(PFRS).  PFRS are adopted by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council (FRSC) from the pronouncements issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.  

The financial statements have been prepared using the 
measurement bases specified by PFRS for each type of asset, 

liability, income and expense.  These financial statements 
have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
the revaluation of certain financial assets.  The measurement 
bases are more fully described in the accounting policies that 
follow.

(b)     Presentation of Financial Statements

The financial statements are presented in accordance with 
Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 1 (Revised 2007), 
Presentation of Financial Statements.  The Foundation elected 
to present all items of income and expenses in a single 
statement of comprehensive income.  Two comparative periods 
are presented for the statement of financial position when the 
Foundation applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes 
a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, 
or reclassifies items in the financial statements.

(c)     Functional and Presentation Currency

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, 
the Foundation’s functional currency and presentation currency, 
and all values represent absolute amounts except when 
otherwise indicated.

Items included in the financial statements of the Foundation 
are measured using the Foundation’s functional currency, the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates.
 
 2.2     Adoption of New Interpretations, Revisions and      

Amendments to PFRS

(a)     Effective in 2009 that are Relevant to the Foundation

In 2009, the Foundation adopted the following new revisions 
and amendments to PFRS that are relevant to the Foundation 
and effective for financial statements for the annual period 
beginning on or after January 1, 2009:

PAS 1 (Revised 2007)  : Presentation of Financial Statements
PFRS 7 (Amendment)  : Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Various Standards : 2008 Annual Improvements to PFRS

Discussed below are the effects on the financial statements of 
the new and amended standards.

 (i)     PAS 1 (Revised 2007), Presentation of Financial 
Statements, requires an entity to present all items of income 
and expense recognized in the period in a single statement 
of comprehensive income or in two statements: a separate 
statement of income and a statement of comprehensive 
income.  Income and expense recognized in profit or loss is 
presented in the statement of income in the same way as the 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

previous version of PAS 1.  The statement of comprehensive 
income includes the profit or loss for the period and each 
component of income and expense recognized outside of profit 
or loss or the “non-owner changes in equity,” which are no 
longer allowed to be presented in the statements of changes in 
equity, classified by nature (e.g., gains or losses on available-
for-sale assets or translation differences related to foreign 
operations).  A statement showing an entity’s financial position 
at the beginning of the previous period is also required when 
the entity retrospectively applies an accounting policy or makes 
a retrospective restatement, or when it reclassifies items in its 
financial statements.

The Foundation’s adoption of PAS 1 (Revised 2007) did not result 
in any material adjustments in its financial statements as the 
change in accounting policy only affects presentation aspects.  
The Foundation has elected to present a single statement of 
comprehensive income (see Note 2.1).

     (ii) PFRS 7 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures.  The amendments require additional disclosures 
for financial instruments that are measured at fair value in the 
statement of financial position.  These fair value measurements 
are categorized into a three-level fair value hierarchy, which 
reflects the extent to which they are based on observable 
market data.  A separate quantitative maturity analysis must 
be presented for derivative financial liabilities that shows the 
remaining contractual maturities, where these are essential for 
an understanding of the timing of cash flows.  The change in 
accounting policy only resulted in additional disclosures 
(see Note 23.2).

     (iii) 2008 Annual Improvements to PFRS.  The FRSC 
has adopted the Improvements to PFRS 2008 which became 
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2009.  Among those improvements, the following are the 
amendments relevant to the Foundation:

resentation of Financial 
Statements.  The amendment clarifies that financial instruments 
classified as held for trading in accordance with PAS 39 are not 
necessarily required to be presented as current assets or current 
liabilities.  Instead, normal classification principles under PAS 
1 should be applied.  The Foundation determined that adoption 
of this amendment had no material effect on its 2009 financial 
statements.

Employee Benefits.  The 
amendment includes the following: 

 - Clarification that a curtailment is considered 
to  have occurred to the extent that benefit promises are   
affected by future salary increases and a reduction in the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation results in 
negative past service cost.
 - Change in the definition of return on plan assets 
to require the deduction of plan administration costs in the 

calculation of plan assets return only to the extent that such 
costs have been excluded from measurement of the defined 
benefit obligation.

 - Distinction between short-term and long-term 
employee benefits will be based on whether benefits are due 
to be settled within or after 12 months of employee service 
being rendered.

 - Removal of the reference to recognition in relation 
to contingent liabilities in order to be consistent with PAS 37, 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, which 
requires contingent liabilities to be disclosed and not recognized.

The Foundation’s management assessed that this amendment 
to PAS 19 had no material effect on its 2009 financial statements

Recognition and Measurement.  The definition of financial 
asset or financial liability at fair value through profit or loss as 
it related to items that are held for trading was changed.  A 
financial asset or liability that is part of a portfolio of financial 
instruments managed together with evidence of an actual recent 
pattern of short-term profit taking is included in such a portfolio 
on initial recognition.  The Foundation determined that adoption 
of this amendment had no material effect on its 2009 financial 
statements.

PAS 40 is amended to include property under construction 
or development for future use as investment property in its 
definition of investment property.  This results in such property 
being within the scope of PAS 40; previously,it was within 
the scope of PAS 16.  Also, if an entity’s policy is to measure 
investment property at fair value, but during construction or 
development of an investment property the entity is unable to 
reliably measure its fair value, then the entity would be permitted 
to measure the investment property at cost until construction or 
development is complete.  At such time, the entity would be able 
to measure the investment property at fair value.  The adoption 
had no material effect on its 2009 financial statements as the 
Foundation has no investment property under construction or 
development.

(b) Effective in 2009 but not Relevant to the Foundation

The following amendments, interpretations and improvements 
to published standards are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2009 but are not relevant to 
the Foundation’s financial statements:

PAS 23 (Revised 2007) :Borrowing Costs
PAS 32 and PAS 1
     (Amendments)  :PAS 32 – Financial Instruments: 

Presentation of Financial   
Statements  and PAS 7 –     
Presentation of Puttable  
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Financial Instruments and 
Obligations  Arising on 
Liquidation

PFRS 1 and PAS 27 :    PFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of PFRS 
     (Amendments)      and PAS 27 – Consolidated and 
       Separate Financial Statements

PFRS 2 (Amendment) :     Share-based Payment
PFRS 8  :     Operating Segments
Philippine Interpretations
IFRIC 13  :     Customer Loyalty Programmes
IFRIC 16  :     Hedges of a Net Investment in a 
        Foreign Operation
 
(c) Effective Subsequent to 2009

There are new PFRS, revisions, amendments, annual 
improvements and interpretations to existing standards that 
are effective for periods subsequent to 2009.  Among those, 
management has initially determined that only Improvements 
to PFRS 2009, which the Foundation will apply in accordance 
with its transitional provisions, to be relevant to its financial 
statements.  Most of these amendments became effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009 or January 
1, 2010.  Among those improvements, only the following 
amendments were identified to be relevant to the Foundation’s 
financial statements:

(effective from January 1, 2010).  The amendment clarifies 
that only an expenditure that results in a recognized asset 
can be classified as a cash flow from investing activities.  The 
amendment will not have a material impact on the financial 
statements since only recognized assets are classified by the 
Foundation as cash flow from investing activities.

January 1, 2010).  The amendment clarifies that when a lease 
includes both land and building elements, an entity assesses 
the classification of each element as finance or an operating 
lease separately in accordance with the general guidance on 
lease classification set out in PAS 17.  Management has initially 
determined that this will not have material impact on the 
financial statements since the Foundation has not entered into 
a lease agreement that includes both land and building.

January 1, 2010).  The amendment provides guidance on 
determining whether an entity is acting as a principal or as an 
agent.  Management will apply this amendment prospectively on 
its 2010 financial statements.

Minor amendments are made to several other standards; 
however, those amendments are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Foundation’s financial statements.

2.3     Separate Financial Statements and Investments 

         in  Subsidiary and Associate

These financial statements are prepared as the Foundation’s 
separate financial statements. The Foundation also presents 
consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2009 
and 2008 which comprised the financial statements of the 
Foundation and its subsidiary.

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Foundation has the 
power to govern the financial reporting policies generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the 
voting rights.  The Foundation obtains and exercises control 
through voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable and convertible are 
considered when assessing whether the Foundation controls 
another entity.

An associate is an entity over which the Foundation is able to 
exert significant influence but which is neither a subsidiary nor 
interest in a joint venture.

The Foundation’s investments in subsidiary and associate are 
accounted for in these separate financial statements at cost, 
less any impairment loss.  Impairment loss is provided when 
there is objective evidence that the investments in subsidiaries 
and associates will not be recovered.  The impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of 
the investment and the present value of the estimated cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for similar 
financial asset.  Impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss 
in the statement of comprehensive income (see Note 2.12).  

2.4     Financial Assets

 
Financial assets, which are recognized when the Foundation 
becomes a party to the contractual terms of the financial 
instrument, include cash and cash equivalents, and other 
financial instruments.  Financial assets, other than hedging 
instruments, are classified into the following categories: 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), 
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and
available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets.  Financial assets 
are assigned to the different categories by management on 
initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired.  The designation of financial assets 
is re-evaluated at every reporting period at which date a choice 
of classification or accounting treatment is available, subject to 
compliance with specific provisions of applicable accounting 
standards.
 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized 
on their trade date.  All financial assets that are not classified 
as at FVTPL are initially recognized at fair value, plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs.  Financial assets carried at FVTPL 
are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs related 
to it are recognized in profit or loss.
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



51FSSI ANNUAL REPORT 2009 

The Foundation’s financial assets are categorized as follows:
 
(a) Financial Assets at FVTPL 

This category includes financial assets that are either classified 
as held for trading or are designated by the entity to be carried 
at FVTPL upon initial recognition.  A financial asset is classified 
in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
it in the near term or if so designated by management.  Assets 
in this category are classified as current if they are either held 
for trading or are expected to be realized within 12 months from 
reporting date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets included 
in this category are measured at fair value with changes in 
fair value recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets (except 
derivatives and financial instruments originally designated as 
financial assets at FVTPL) may be reclassified out of FVTPL 
category if they are no longer held for the purpose of being sold 
or repurchased in the near term.

(b) Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market.  They arise when the Foundation provides money 
directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables.  
They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater 
than 12 months after the reporting period which are classified as 
non-current assets.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment 
losses.  Any change in their value is recognized in profit or loss.  
Impairment loss is provided when there is objective evidence 
that the Foundation will not be able to collect all amounts due to 
it in accordance with the original terms of the receivables.  The 
amount of the impairment loss is determined as the difference 
between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated cash flows.

The Foundation’s financial assets categorized as loans and 
receivables include Cash and Cash Equivalents, Loans and Other 
Receivables and Project guarantee deposits (included as part of 
Other Assets) in the statement of financial position.  Cash and 
cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand, demand deposits 
and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 

(c) Held-to-maturity Investments

This category includes non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments and a fixed date of maturity 
that the Foundation has the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity.  Investments intended to be held for an undefined 
period are not included in this classification.  Held-to-maturity 
investments are included in non-current assets in the statement 
of financial position, except those maturing within 12 months of 

the reporting date which are classified as current assets.

Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments 
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, less impairment losses, if any.  Impairment loss, which 
is the difference between the carrying value and the present 
value of estimated cash flows of the investment, is recognized 
when there is objective evidence that the investment has been 
impaired.  Any changes to the carrying amount of the investment 
are recognized in profit or loss.

The Foundation’s developmental deposits are included in this 
category (see Note 7).

(d) AFS Financial Assets  

This category includes non-derivative financial assets that 
are either designated to this category or do not qualify for 
inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets.  
They are included in non-current assets in the statement of 
financial position unless management intends to dispose of the 
investment within 12 months from the reporting period.

All financial assets within this category are subsequently 
measured at fair value, unless otherwise disclosed, with changes 
in value recognized in other comprehensive income, net of any 
effects arising from income taxes.  When the asset is disposed 
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss 
recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 
accumulated fair value gains (losses) on AFS financial assets 
to profit or loss and presented as a reclassification adjustment 
within other comprehensive income.

Reversal of impairment loss is recognized in other 
comprehensive income, except for financial assets that are 
debt securities which are recognized in profit or loss only if the 
reversal can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognized.
 
All income and expense relating to financial assets recognized in 
profit or loss are presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income line item Finance Income and Finance Costs, 
respectively.
 
For investments that are actively traded in organized financial 
markets, fair value is determined by reference to stock 
exchange-quoted market bid prices at the close of business on 
the reporting date.  For investments where there is no quoted 
market price, fair value is determined by reference to the current 
market value of another instrument which is substantially the 
same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the 
underlying net asset base of the investment.
 
Non-compounding interest, dividend income and other cash 
flows resulting from holding financial assets are recognized 
in profit or loss when earned, regardless of how the related 
carrying amount of financial assets is measured.
 
Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial instruments expire or are 
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transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred.
 
2.5 Property and Equipment

 
Property and equipment, except land which is stated at cost less 
any impairment in value, are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment in value.  
 
The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition 
for its intended use.  Expenditures for additions, major 
improvements and renewals are capitalized; expenditures for 
repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.  
When assets are sold, retired or otherwise disposed of, their cost 
and related accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 
are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is 
reflected in income for the period.
  
Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
 
 Building and improvements               3 - 20 years
 Transportation equipment                         5 years
 Furniture and fixtures                                5 years
 Office equipment                   3 years
 
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they 
are no longer in use and no further charge for depreciation is 
made in respect of those assets.
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount (see Note 2.12).
 
The residual values and estimated useful lives of property and 
equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.
 
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss 
arising from derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the item) is included in the profit or loss in the year 
the item is derecognized.
 

2.6     Investment Properties

 
Investment properties are measured at cost less any impairment 
in value (see Note 2.12).  The cost of investment properties 
comprise the purchase price and any directly attributable 
expenditure, which includes, among others, professional fees 
for legal services, property transfer taxes, and other transaction 
costs. 
 
Investment properties acquired through foreclosure are recorded 
at the carrying amount of the defaulted loans receivable which 

approximates the fair value of the property at the time of 
foreclosure.
Investment properties are derecognized upon disposal or 
when permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefit is expected from its disposal.  Any gain or 
loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment properties 
are recognized in the profit or loss in the year of retirement 
or disposal.
 
2.7     Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities, which include Accounts Payable and Other 
Liabilities and Unused Project Funds, are recognized when the 
Foundation becomes a party to the contractual agreements of 
the instrument.  All interest related charges are recognized as 
an expense in the statement of comprehensive income under 
the caption Finance Costs.

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortized cost less settlement 
payments.

Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of 
financial position only when the obligations are extinguished 
either through discharge, cancellation or expiration.

2.8     Provisions

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will 
probably lead to an outflow of economic resources and they 
can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the 
outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation arises 
from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that 
has resulted from past events. 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required 
to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable 
evidence available at the end of the reporting period, including 
the risks and uncertainties associated with the present 
obligation.  Where there are a number of similar obligations, 
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  
When time value of money is material, long-term provisions 
are discounted to their present values using a pretax rate 
that reflects market assessments and the risks specific to 
the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic 
resource as a result of present obligations is considered 
improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot 
be measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial 
statements.  Similarly, possible inflows of economic benefits 
that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are 
considered contingent assets, hence, are not recognized in the 
financial statements.  On the other hand, any reimbursement 
that the Foundation can be virtually certain to collect from 
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a third party with respect to the obligation is recognized as 
a separate asset not exceeding the amount of the related 
provision.
 
2.9     Revenue and Expense Recognition

 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that the revenue can be 
reliably measured, it is probable that the economic benefits 
will flow to the Foundation, and the costs incurred or to be 
incurred can be measured reliably.  In addition, the following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognized:
 
(a) Grants – Grants received for specific projects are 
initially recognized as liabilities to the donors at the time the 
funds are received.  Grants are recognized as revenue at the 
time the project related expenses are incurred.  Excess of grants 
received over expenses is shown as unused project funds in the 
statement of financial position.  Any remaining unused project 
fund after the completion of its purpose is either returned to the 
grantor or is retained upon prior approval from the donor.

(b) Investment income – Investment income, which 
primarily consists of gain on sale of investments, interest income 
and other income earned from investments held, are recognized 
when earned, net of applicable final withholding taxes.

(c) Interest income – Interest income are reported on an 
accrual basis using the effective interest method.

(d) Dividends – Revenue is recognized when the 
stockholders’ right to receive the payment is established.
   
Cost and expenses are recognized in the profit or loss upon 
receipt of goods, utilization of the service or at the date they are 
incurred.  All finance costs are reported in profit or loss on an 
accrual basis.

2.10     Leases – Foundation as Lessor

Leases, wherein the Foundation substantially transfers to the 
lessee all risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are classified as finance leases and are presented 
as receivable at an amount equal to the Foundation’s net 
investment in the lease.  Finance income is recognized based 
on the pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on 
the Foundation’s net investment outstanding in respect of the 
finance lease.

Leases, which do not transfer to the lessee substantially all 
the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset, are classified 
as operating leases.  Lease income from operating leases is 
recognized as income in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

The Foundation determines whether an arrangement is, or 
contains a lease based on the substance of the arrangement.  
It makes an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the 

arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or 
assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
 
2.11     Foreign Currency Transactions

The accounting records of the Foundation are maintained in 
Philippine pesos.  Foreign currency transactions during the year 
are translated into the functional currency at exchange rates 
which approximate those prevailing on transaction dates.  

Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognized in profit or loss.

2.12     Impairment of Non-financial Assets

The Foundation’s Investments in Subsidiary and Associate, 
Property and Equipment and Investment Properties are subject 
to impairment testing.  All other individual assets are tested 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash-generating units).  As a result, some assets are 
tested individually for impairment and some are tested at 
cash-generating unit level.  

Impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the 
asset or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of 
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and 
value in use, based on an internal evaluation of discounted cash 
flow.  Impairment loss is charged pro-rata to the other assets in 
the cash-generating unit.

All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an 
impairment loss previously recognized may no longer exist and 
the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the recoverable 
amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss.

2.13     Employee Benefits

(a) Post-employment Benefit

Post-employment benefit is provided to employees through a 
defined contribution plan.

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment plan 
under which the Foundation pays fixed contributions into an 
independent entity.  The Foundation has no legal or constructive 
obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed 
contribution.  The contributions recognized in respect of defined 
contribution plans are expensed as they fall due.  Liabilities and 
assets may be recognized if underpayment or prepayment has 
occurred and are included in current liabilities or current assets 
as they are normally of a short term nature.
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2.15     Fund Balance

Members’ contribution and grant are measured at the initial 
value of the cash received for working capital requirements.
 
Accumulated fair value gains (losses) comprise gains and 
losses due to the revaluation of AFS financial assets.

Cumulative excess of revenues over expenditures include all 
current and prior period results of operations as reported in 
profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income.
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND    

 ESTIMATES

The Foundation’s financial statements prepared in accordance 
with PFRS require management to make judgments and 
estimates that affect amounts reported in the financial 
statements and related notes.  Judgments and estimates are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual 
results may ultimately differ from these estimates.

3.1     Critical Management Judgments in Applying    

         Accounting Policies

In the process of applying the Foundation’s accounting policies, 
management has made the following judgments, apart from 
those involving estimation, which have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

(a) Held-to-maturity Investments

In classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity 
investments, the Foundation evaluates its intention and ability 
to hold such investments up to maturity.  Management has 
confirmed its intention and determined its ability to hold the 
investments up to maturity.  If the Foundation fails to keep these 
investments to maturity other than for specific circumstances 
as allowed under the standards, it will be required to reclassify 
the whole class as AFS financial assets.  In such a case, the 
investments would therefore be measured at fair value, not 
amortized cost.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, there are no held-to-
maturity investments disposed of before their maturity.  The 
analysis of the carrying value of held-to-maturity investments is 
presented in Note 7.

(b) Impairment of AFS Financial Assets

The determination when an investment is other-than-temporarily 
impaired requires significant judgment.  In making this judgment, 
the Foundation evaluates, among other factors, the duration 
and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than 
its cost, and the financial health of and near-term business 

 (b) Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is 
terminated by the Foundation before the normal retirement 
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy 
in exchange for these benefits.  The Foundation recognizes 
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to 
either (a) terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of 
withdrawal; or (b) providing termination benefits as a result of 
an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.  Benefits 
falling due more than 12 months after the reporting date are 
discounted to present value.

(c) Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid 
leave days (including holiday entitlement) remaining at the end 
of the reporting period.  They are included in Accrued Employee 
Benefits under Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities account in 
the statement of financial position at the undiscounted amount 
that the Foundation expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement.

2.14     Income Taxes

Tax expense recognized in the profit or loss comprises the 
sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognized in other 
comprehensive income.

Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or 
obligations to, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior 
reporting period, that are uncollected or unpaid at the reporting 
period.  They are calculated using the tax rates and tax laws 
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on 
the taxable profit for the year.  All changes to current tax assets 
or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in 
the profit or loss.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on 
temporary differences at the reporting period between the tax 
base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes.  Under the liability method, with 
certain exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for 
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the 
carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deferred income tax asset can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 
is realized or the liability is settled, provided such tax rates 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period.
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outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and 
sector performance, changes in technology and operational and 
financing cash flows.
 
In 2008, the Foundation recognized impairment loss amounting 
to P10,231,569 on AFS financial assets where the decline in fair 
values is significant and prolonged.  No impairment loss was 
recognized in 2009 (see Notes 8 and 16.2).

(c) Distinction Between Investment Properties and Land 
Held for Sale

Judgment is exercised by management to determine whether a 
property will be classified as investment properties or land held 
for sale.  Management assessed that the parcels of land leased 
out to a third party and held for capital appreciation be classified 
as investment properties.

(d) Operating and Finance Leases 

The Foundation has entered into various lease agreements as 
a lessor.  Critical judgment was exercised by management to 
distinguish each lease agreement as either an operating or 
finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention of significant 
risk and rewards of ownership of the properties covered by the 
agreements.  Failure to make the right judgment will result in 
either overstatement or understatement of assets and liabilities.

(e) Provisions and Contingencies

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between 
provisions and contingencies.  Policies on recognition and 
disclosures of provision and contingencies are discussed in Note 
2.8 and relevant disclosures are presented in Note 21.

3.2     Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Useful Lives of Property and Equipment 

The Foundation estimates the useful lives of property and 
equipment based on the period over which the assets are 
expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives 
of property and equipment are reviewed periodically and are 
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to 
physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence 
and legal or other limits on the use of the assets.  The carrying 
amounts of property and equipment are analyzed in Note 10.  
Based on management’s assessment as at December 31, 2009 
and 2008, there is no change in estimated useful lives 
of property and equipment during the year.  Actual results, 
however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought about 
by changes in factors mentioned above.  

 (b) Allowance for Impairment of Loans and Other 
Receivables

Allowance is made for specific and groups of accounts, where 
objective evidence of impairment exists.  The Foundation 
evaluates these accounts based on available facts and 
circumstances, including, but not limited to, the length of the 
Foundation’s relationship with the borrowers, the borrowers’ 
current credit status based on known market forces, average age 
of accounts, collection experience and historical loss experience.

Impairment losses on Loans and Other Receivables amounted to 
P12.9 million in 2009 and P6.6 million in 2008 (see Note 16.2).  
Loans and Other Receivables, net of allowance for impairment, 
stood at P190.4 million and P192.8 million as at December 31, 
2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 5).

(c) Valuation of Financial Assets Other than Loans and 
Other Receivables

The Foundation carries certain financial assets at fair value, 
which requires the extensive use of accounting estimates and 
judgment.  In cases where active market quotes are not available, 
fair value is determined by reference to the current market 
value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is 
calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying 
net base of the instrument.  The amount of changes in fair value 
would differ if the Foundation utilized different valuation methods 
and assumptions.  Any change in fair value of these financial 
assets would affect profit and loss and fund balance.

Fair value gain on AFS financial assets amounted to P12.9 million 
in 2009 while P26.6 million fair value loss was incurred in 2008 
(see Note 8).  Fair value gains on financial assets at FVTPL 
amounted to P0.5 million in 2009 whileP0.2 million fair value loss 
was incurred in 2008 (see Note 6).

(d) Impairment of Non-financial Assets

PFRS requires that an impairment review be performed when 
certain impairment indicators are present.  The Foundation’s 
policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial assets is 
discussed in Note 2.12.  Though management believes that the 
assumptions used in the estimation of fair values are appropriate 
and reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may 
materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and any 
resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse effect on 
the results of operations.

There are no impairment losses recognized on non-financial 
assets in 2009 and 2008 based on management’s assessment.
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4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components as of December 31:

  Note   2009   2008 

  Cash on hand and in banks   P 3,707,614 P 2,077,739
  Short-term placements  8  12,207,742  15,512,536
 
       P             15,915,356   P             17,590,275 

Cash in banks generally earn interest at rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  
Short-term placements earn effective interest ranging from 1.95% to 2.90% in 2009 and 1.88% to 2.75% in 2008 (see Note 16.1).

5. LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

This account is composed of the following:

  Notes   2009   2008 

  Current: 
  Project loans      20.1  P 108,414,570 P 97,705,711
  Interest receivables     7,633,156  4,627,554
        116,047,726  102,333,265
  Allowance for impairment   ( 6,055,801 ) (  4,112,143 ) 
        109,991,925  98,221,122
  
  Employee loans    1,353,330  1,308,238
  Finance lease receivables                           11                      301,797                      171,718
  Commercial Loan     8                                        -                   12,237,054

       P          111,647,052    P           111,938,132
  
  Non-current:
  Project loans   P 99,727,730 P     115,636,509
  Allowance for impairment   ( 25,631,635 ) (  39,357,098 )
        74,096,095  76,279,411
  Employee loans   3,050,747                   2,718,320  
  Finance lease receivables   1,647,990                  1,827,527

       P             78,794,832  P             80,825,258
5.1 Project Loans

Project loans are composed of loans extended to cooperatives, rural banks, and other non-government organizations to promote eco-
enterprises of communities in the Philippines.  These are collateralized by certain real estate and personal properties, inventories and 
receivables of the borrowers.  These loans earn annual interest, which is effectively the market interest rate, ranging from 8.28% to 12.00% 
in 2009 and 8.00% to 12.95% in 2008.  Interest income on project loans amounting to P15.2 million and P12.7 million in 2009 and 2008, 
respectively, are presented as part of Finance Income in the statements of comprehensive income (see Note 16.1).

5.2 Employee Loans

Employee loans are interest-bearing and payable through salary deduction within two to eight years from the grant date.  The effective 
interest rate on loans to employees is 6% to 8% in both 2009 and 2008.  Interest income on loans to employees amounting to P282,789 and 
P326,796 in 2009 and 2008, respectively, are presented as part of the Finance Income account in the statements of comprehensive income 
(see Note 16.1).
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5.3 Non-accruing Project Loans

 The carrying value of non-accruing project loans is as follows:

     2009   2008 

  Gross amount   P 42,295,301 P 62,461,491
  Allowance for impairment  (     26,288,347 ) (  34,474,270 )
 
       P            16,006,954  P             27,987,221

The Foundation does not accrue interest on project loans that are past due for more than 12 months.  Unrecognized interest income from 
non-accruing project loans amounted to P4.3 million and P5.7 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The fair values of non-accruing loans amounted to P33.5 million and P47.7 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  
These are determined based on the effective interest rates used by the Foundation on its project loans.  Such interest rates are regarded as 
market interest rates.

5.4 Impairment of Loans and Other Receivables

All of the Foundation’s loans and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment.  Certain loans receivables were found to 
be impaired and allowance for impairment losses have been recognized accordingly.  

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment at the beginning and end of 2009 and 2008 is shown below.
 

  Note   2009   2008 

  Balance at beginning of year  P 43,469,241 P 36,831,435
  Impairment loss during 
    the year   16.2                12,916,564                     6,637,806
        Write-offs during the year                 (             24,698,369 )                  -             

  Balance at end of year  P             31,687,436  P             43,469,241

6. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The reconciliation of the account is as follows:

  Note   2009   2008 

   Balance at the beginning 
    of year       P 8,162,315   P 7,335,740
   Fair value gains (losses)  16.1, 16.2    513,551    (             219,218   )
   
   Foreign currency gains (losses)  16.1    (                   234,779  )                     1,045,793  
                
  Balance at end of year  P               8,441,087  P               8,162,315

The Foundation’s financial asset at FVTPL represents dollar-denominated investment in debt security in a local bank amounting to 
US$150,000 with market value of US$182,708 and US$171,893 as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Interest income earned from financial asset at FVTPL amounted to P801,204 and P123,620 in 2009 and 2008, respectively, and is presented 
as part of Finance Income in the statements of comprehensive income  (see Note 16.1).  Investment in FVTPL earn interest based on effec-
tive interest rates ranging from 8.86% to 8.88% in 2009 and 2008.
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7. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 

This category of financial assets consists of the following:

     2009   2008 

   Time deposits with: 
    Cooperative banks   P 57,000,000   P 47,000,000
    Rural banks    36,500,000    38,900,000 
    Cooperative federations    14,380,000    14,380,000

       P           107,880,000  P           100,280,000

This account represents deposits in community financial institutions that pursue developmental objectives.  Regular time deposits and 
deposit lines, which mature annually, are placed with community financial institutions that demonstrate stable financial performance and 
comply with micro-finance industry standards.

These deposits, which are invested for a period of 12 months, earn interest based on effective interest rate ranging from 6.00% to 9.00% 
in 2009 and 7.25% to 11.00% in 2008.  Accordingly, the carrying value of held-to-maturity investments approximates its fair value.  Interest 
income from developmental deposits amounted to P6.9 million and P8.1 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively (see Note 16.1).

8. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 

This category of financial assets consists of the following:

     2009   2008 

  Debt securities:
    Government    P 324,713,614   P 312,586,207
    Corporate     19,354,706    19,397,362
         344,068,320    331,983,569
  Equity securities    39,174,655    43,371,909  

       P           383,242,975  P           375,355,478 
The Foundation’s investments are held by the following trustee banks:

     2009   2008 

  Bank of the Philippine Islands   P 162,931,832    P 164,067,405
  Banco de Oro     139,046,973     133,832,451 
  Metropolitan Bank and Trust 
    Foundation    96,623,890     98,937,089 
  AB Capital and Investment 
    Corporation    -                     4,082,001 
 
       P           398,602,695  P            400,918,946
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These investments held by the trustee banks are classified in the statement of financial position as follows:

  Notes   2009   2008 

  Cash and cash equivalents  4  P 10,523,683    P 13,326,414
  Dividends and interest receivables     4,836,037    -
  Commercial loans  5   -                  12,237,054
  AFS financial assets   383,242,975  375,355,478

        P          398,602,695  P           400,918,946

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Foundation’s investments held by trustee banks is as follows:

  Notes   2009   2008 

   Balance at beginning 
    of year    P 400,918,946   P 410,228,950
   Withdrawals   (               43,764,357 )   (  17,000,000   )
   Investment income - net 16.1, 16.2  25,046,638   25,984,693 
   Fair value gain (loss)  16.2, 21                    13,753,097       ( 26,573,728 )
   Foreign currency gain  16.1, 16.2    2,648,371    8,279,031  

   Balance at end of year   P           398,602,695  P           400,918,946

For investments in equity securities, the Foundation earned fair value gain of P13.6 million in 2009 and incurred fair value loss of P18.4 mil-
lion in 2008.  Fair value loss arising from debt securities amounted to P0.7 million and P8.2 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.    

In 2008, the Foundation recognized impairment losses on certain equity securities amounting to P10.2 million and of which, P2.3 million 
were fair value losses incurred in 2008 (see Note 16.2).

The net investment income earned by the Foundation from the investment held by trustee banks is composed of the following 
(see Notes 16.1 and 16.2):

     2009   2008 

  Interest income    P 24,266,398 P 28,036,692
Trust fund fees and     

    other expenses  (  2,410,436 ) (  3,307,807 )
  Dividend income   2,385,784  1,870,456
  Foreign currency losses  (  15,130 ) (  1,396,760 )
  Gain on sale of AFS 
    financial assets    820,022    782,112
 
        P             25,046,638   P             25,984,693

The Foundation disposed of some of its investments in equity securities which resulted in the reclassification to profit or loss of 
unrealized gain on AFS financial assets amounting to P0.8 million in 2009 and unrealized loss of AFS financial assets amounting 
to P1.3 million in 2008.
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9. ADVANCES TO AND INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE

The composition of this account as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 is shown below.
 
   Notes     2009   2008 

   Investment in subsidiary 
    (SMPFC):  
    Acquisition cost  P 18,000,000 P 18,000,000
    Advances  20.1  19,028,527   18,532,860 
              Project loans  20.1   13,507,563                    13,507,563
           50,536,090        50,040,423
    Allowance for impairment     ( 13,150,972 )    - 
           37,385,118         50,040,423
 
   Investment in associate 
     (Coco-coir Business Integration 
     and Development):  
      Acquisition cost    3,710,000  3,710,000
      Allowance for impairment  (                 1,683,499 )  (                   240,000 )
         2,026,501          3,470,000
                                                                                       
                                                                                                                         P             39,411,619         P             53,510,423

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment at the beginning and end of 2009 and 2008 is shown below.

   Notes     2009   2008 

    Balance at the beginning of year  P 240,000 P 240,000
    Impairment loss during the year  16.2  14,594,471                                 -  
                     
    Balance at the end of the year     P 14,834,471   P 240,000
          

The advances made by the Foundation to SMPFC are intended to cover for additional operating and working capital of the latter.
  
As of December 31, 2009, the management determined that the recoverable amounts of the advances to and investments in subsidiary 
and associate were lower than its carrying amount.  Accordingly, an impairment loss amounting to P14.6 million was recognized in 2009 
(see Note 16.2).
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           Building and     Transportation             Office     Furniture
       Land     Improvements     Equipment     Equipment     and fixtures     Total 
 
 December 31, 2009 
  Cost     P 20,056,618   P 5,514,822   P 1,982,357   P 3,359,715   P 8168,563     P     31,623,075
  Accumulated 
     depreciation    -   (  4,036,949 ) (  1,696,643 ) (  2,964,786 ) (  810,428 )     (  9,508,806 )
 
 Net carrying amount   P       20,056,618    P           1,477,873    P           285,714    P           294,929    P              8,135    P       22,123,269 

 December 31, 2008  
    Cost     P 2,900,000   P 5,514,822   P 1,982,357   P 3,077,372   P    816,335     P       14,290,886 
  Accumulated 
     depreciation     -   (  3,693,765 ) (  1,668,687 ) (            2,829,635)   (   765,568 ) (       8,957,673 ) 
 
  Net carrying amount    P         2,900,000    P           1,821,057    P           313,670    P           247,737    P            50,749     P         5,333,213

 January 1, 2008
  Cost     P 2,900,000   P 5,315,784   P 1,982,357   P 2,869,700   P 816,335     P    13,884,176 
    Accumulated 
       depreciation     -   (  3,235,827 ) (  1,272,215 ) (  2,570,089)   (   721,514 )    (  7,799,645 )
 
  Net carrying amount  P         2,900,000    P           2,079,957    P            710,142    P           299,611     P            94,821     P        6,084,531

        Building and    Transportation   Office   Furniture   
     Land   Improvements   Equipment   Equipment   and fixtures   Total 

 Balance at January 1, 2009,
    net of accumulated 
  depreciation    P 2,900,000   P 1,821,057   P 313,670   P 247,737   P                50,749   P 5,333,213 
 Additions                17,156,618                       -        -     222,969                      2,227              427,654
 Disposals     -     -     -   (                    3,521 )                -   (                3,521 )  
 Depreciation charges    
    for the year    -   (  457,938 ) (  396,472 ) (  172,256)     (                   44,841  ) (            588,237 )

 Balance at December 31, 2009, 
    net of accumulated
    depreciation     P          20,056,618    P              1,477,873    P             285,714    P             295,929    P                 8,135    P    22,123,269 

  

Balance at January 1, 2008,
    net of accumulated 
  depreciation    P 2,900,000   P 2,340,366   P 1,480,533   P 427,952   P 149,602   P 7,298,453 
 Additions     -     152,269    -      167,836    146    320,251 
 Disposals     -     -   (   195,805 )   -     -   (  195,805 )
                          Depreciation charges                             
    for the year    -   (  412,678 ) (  574,586 ) (  296,177  ) (   54,927 ) (  1,338,368 )
 
 Balance at December 31,2008, 
    net of accumulated
    depreciation     P            2,900,000    P              1,821,057    P             313,670    P             247,737    P              50,749    P      5,333,213 

In 2009, the Foundation acquired a parcel of land amounting to P17.2 million which the management intends to use in the construction of the 
Foundation’s office building.

A reconcillation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of 2009 and 2009, of property and equipment is shown below.

10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 

              The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation at the beginning and end of 2009 and 2008 are shown below.
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The fair market value of the Foundation’s investment properties amounted to P51.7 million as of December 31, 2009 based on the appraisal 
report of an independent party and P40.1 million as of December 31, 2008 based on available selling prices of the properties at the reporting
date.

12. OTHER ASSETS

This account is composed of the following:

     2009   2008 

  Project guarantee deposits   P 4,000,000   P 4,000,000
  Project equity investments    240,000    240,000
  Others       3,058,862    2,396,189
         7,298,862    6,636,189
  Allowance for impairment  (  721,989 )   ( 721,989 )

       P 6,576,873 P 5,914,200

Project guarantee deposits were established by the Foundation to support small-scale projects implemented by the 
New Rural Bank of San Leonardo in Nueva Ecija.  Interest earned on these deposits amounted to P0.4 million in both 2009 and 2008 
(see Note 16.1).  

Project equity investment pertains to an investment in a dormant corporation which has been fully provided with allowance for impairment.

Others include prepayments, input taxes and other receivables.

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
 

The reconciliations of the carrying amounts of investment properties are as follows:

      2009   2008 

   Balance at the beginning of year P 34,320,559 P 34,408,375
   Additions         -    2,162,184
   Disposals          -                        (           2,250,000 )  
   
   Balance at end of year P 34,320,559 P 34,320,559

The Foundation’s investment properties include several parcels of land which were foreclosed by the Foundation when borrowers were unable to 
settle their loans.  

Investment properties are valued at cost, which is the carrying value of the outstanding amount of loans and interests at the time of foreclosure.  
Management believes that the carrying value of the loans and interests approximate the fair value of the investment property at the time of fore-
closure.  Accordingly, no gain or loss is recognized relative to those transactions.  

In 2008, the Foundation foreclosed a parcel of land in Misamis Oriental amounting to P2.2 million.  No foreclosures were made in 2009.

Also in 2008, the Foundation entered into a lease-to-own arrangement for the parcel of land foreclosed in previous years amounting to P2.3 million 
which was accounted for by the Foundation as finance lease.  A receivable is recognized at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease 
amounting to P2.3 million.  The agreement bears an annual interest of 11%.  Lease payments received from the buyer-lessee are accounted for 
as repayment of principal.  As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, outstanding balance of the receivable from lessee presented as Finance Lease 
Receivables under the Loans and Other Receivables account in the 2009 statement of financial position amounted to P1.9 million and 
P2.0 million, respectively (see Note 5).  The related interest income amounting to P0.2 million is presented as part of Finance Income 
account in the 2009 statement of comprehensive income (see Note 16.1). 
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13. UNUSED PROJECT FUNDS
 

Unused Project Funds consist of the following at December 31:

     2009   2008 

  Balance at beginning of year  P 2,435,056 P 4,762,489
   Grant expenditures during the year  (   1,924,734 )     (                  2,327,433 )    
   Grant received during the year    241,525  -

  Balance at end of year  P 751,847 P 2,435,056

The unused project funds represent the excess of grants received from Netherlands Organization for International Development Cooperation (NO-
VIB) over expenses incurred on special projects.  The remaining funds will be used by the Foundation in 2010 to finance certain projects 

as approved by NOVIB.

14. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

This account consists of:
 
       Note   2009   2008 
 
 Unpaid project grants 17 P 2,803,335 P 1,590,548
 Accrued employee benefits   881,065              320,268
 Trust fees payable   643,594  -
 Others     926,853   623,461
 
       P 5,254,847 P 2,534,277

The fair values of accounts payable and other liabilities have not been individually disclosed as, due to their short duration, management 
considers the carrying amounts recognized in the statements of financial position to be reasonable approximation of their fair values.

15. GRANTS

This represents funds received from partners which the Foundation contributed to other funding agencies to finance the operation of specific 
programs and projects as approved by the partners.  Grant revenue is composed of the following:

     2009   2007 

 NOVIB    P 1,707,212 P 2,533,770
 Western Union Foundation   217,522  -
         Recoverable grants:
   Asian Institute of Management (AIM)   60,000   1,073,630  
   Fund for a Sustainable Civil Society (FSCS)   -  140,365

       P 1,984,734 P 3,747,765

Recoverable grants – AIM relates to the contributions of the Foundation for the Study Now Pay Later Program. 
Recoverable grants – FSCS refers to contributions for various FSCS projects and partners. 
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16. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

16.1 Finance Income

 The breakdown of this account is as follows:

  Notes   2009                  2008       
 Interest income from: 
  AFS financial assets   8 P 24,266,398 P 28,036,692
  Loans and receivables              5.1, 5.2, 
      11  15,711,910  13,321,241
  Held-to-maturity 
   investments  7    6,908,721     8,143,242
  Financial asset at FVTPL  6       801,204        123,620
  Other assets   12       396,208        402,335
  Cash and cash equivalents  4       152,890        489,145
 Dividend income    8    2,385,784     1,870,456
 Foreign currency gains - net  6, 8       876,591     8,609,170
 Fair value gain reclassified   
      to profit or loss   8       827,870   -
 Gain on sale of AFS  
      financial assets – net    8       820,022       782,112 
 Fair value gains – FVTPL   6       513,551   -  
     
       P              53,661,149 P 61,778,013

16.2 Finance Costs

 The breakdown of this account is as follows:
  Notes   2009                    2008           

 Impairment losses on:
  Investments in affiliates  9  P 14,594,471     P                                - 
  Loans and other receivables  5.4   12,916,564                         6,637,806
  AFS financial assets  8   -                       10,231,569
 Trustee fund fees and other 
  expenses   8   2,410,436                         3,307,807
 Fair value loss reclassified   
  to profit or loss   8   -                         1,328,028
 Fair value losses – FVTPL  6   -                          219,2188
   
         P 29,921,471    P                 21,724,428

17. PROJECT AND DEVELOPMENTAL GRANTS

Project and developmental grants represents grants provided for development projects involving activities such as technical assistance, 
economic research, feasibility studies, product research and development, pilot production, capability building and other activities.
 
Project and Developmental Grants amounted to P4.3 million and P5.3 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Unpaid project and 
developmental grants amounting to P2.8 million and P1.6 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, are presented 
as Unpaid project grants under the Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities account in the statements of financial position (see Note 14).
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

18.1 Salaries and Employee Benefits Expense 

Expenses recognized for salaries and employee benefits are presented below.

     2009   2008 

 Short-term employee benefits    P 9,564,550 P 9,236,874
 Post-employment     634,504   541,691
 Termination benefits     281,980  298,866
       
         P 10,481,034 P 10,077,431

 18.2 Post-employment Benefit

The Foundation maintains a wholly-funded, tax-qualified, noncontributory post-employment defined contribution plan covering all its
permanent and regular employees that is being managed by a trustee bank.

The amounts of post-employment benefit expense recognized in the profit or loss are as follows:

                     2009                    2008      

 Current service cost     P 178,513  P 203,399
 Interest cost        69,978     71,457
 Expected return on plan assets    ( 263,583 )  ( 218,647 )
 Net actuarial losses (gains) 
  recognized  during the year    404,216  (   84,112 )
 Effect of asset limit      245,380       569,594

       P 634,504  P 541,691 

 The post-employment benefit expense also represents the amounts of contribution paid into the plan.  Accordingly, no retirement 
 benefit obligation was reported by the Foundation as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. 

 The plan assets consist of the following:

                      2009                  2008      

  Government securities   P 2,292,926  P 1,285,501
  Cash and cash equivalents       477,366      410,368
  Debt securities        307,533       694,461
  Other receivables          14,562        14,598

       P 3,092,387  P 2,404,928
  
         
 Actual return on plan assets were P213,636 in 2009 and P83,583 in 2008.

19. TAXES

19.1      Current Taxes

The Foundation, as non-stock, not-for-profit organization is exempt from income tax.  However, income derived from its properties, real 
or personal, or from any of its activities conducted for profit regardless of the disposition made of such income, is subject to income tax.
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The components of tax expense reported in the profit or loss are as follows:

     2009   2008 

 Current tax:
  Minimum corporate 
   income tax (MCIT) at 2%    P 9,951 P 13,047
  Final tax at 20% and 7.5%     190,818  107,100

         P 200,769 P 120,147

  The Foundation is subject to MCIT, which is computed at 2% of gross income derived from its activities intended for profit, as defined 
  under the tax regulations.  The Foundation’s MCIT, which is higher than regular corporate income tax (RCIT) in both years, shown as Tax
  Expense in the statements of comprehensive income, amounted to P9,951 in 2009 and P13,047 in 2008.  In 2009 and 2008, the 
  Foundation did not recognize deferred tax on MCIT as management believes that the related benefit may not be utilized until the 
  expiration period.  The details of MCIT, which can be applied against future RCIT payable, and their respective year of expiration are
  shown below.

    Year   Amount   Valid Until 

    2009  P  9,951   2012
    2008   13,047   2011
    2007   10,639   2010 
 
      P 33,637  
 
19.2     Optional Standard Deduction

Effective July 2008, Republic Act (RA) 9504 was approved giving corporate taxpayers an option to claim itemized deduction or optional standard 
deduction equivalent to 40% of gross sales.  Once the option is made, it shall be irrevocable for the taxable year for which the option was made.

In 2009 and 2008, the Foundation opted to continue claiming itemized deductions.

19.3     Change in Applicable Tax Rate

Effective January 1, 2009, in accordance with RA 9337, RCIT rate will be reduced from 35% to 30% and non-allowable deduction for interest 
expense from 42% to 33% of interest income subjected to final tax.

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Foundation’s related parties include its wholly owned subsidiary and the Foundation’s key management which are described below.

20.1     Advances to a Subsidiary

In the normal course of business, the Foundation grants interest-bearing and 
non-interest bearing loans and non-interest bearing cash advances to its subsidiary, SMPFC.  Outstanding balance of interest-bearing loans 
amounting to P3.5 million and P2.0 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, are presented as part of Project Loans under Loans 
and Other Receivables (see Note 5).  Non-interest bearing loans and advances amounting to P32.5 million and P32.0 million as of December 31, 
2009 and 2008, respectively, are presented under the Advances to and Investments in Subsidiary and Associate account (see Note 9).
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20.2     Key Management Personnel Compensation 

The compensation of key management personnel is broken down as follows:
 
 
                                                                                                                             2009             2008      

Short-term employee benefits                                                                   P2,910,162                   P         2,672,317
Post-employment benefit                                                                              288,942            208,680

       
                                                                                                                P        3,199,104                         P    2,880,997

21. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The ongoing litigations filed by the Foundation relate to claims against borrowers who have unpaid loan balance.  Notice of claims have also 
been filed to the customers undergoing voluntary insolvency proceedings.  No recognition for contingencies has been made as the Foundation 
believes that it is not yet probable that these claims will be realized in the near future.

There are commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities that arise in the normal course of operations of the Foundation which are not 
reflected in the accompanying financial statements.  The management of the Foundation is of the opinion that losses, if any, from these items
 will not have any material effect on its financial statements.

22. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

The Foundation is exposed to certain financial risks in relation to financial instruments.  The Foundation’s management is responsible for the 
Foundation’s financial risk management which includes establishment of risk strategies and policies and monitoring and evaluation of the risk
in line with the set policies and strategies.  The objective of financial risk management is to contain, where appropriate, exposures in these 
financial risks to limit any negative impact on the Foundation’s results and fund balance.

The Foundation does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options.  The most 
significant financial risks to which the Foundation is exposed to are described below.

22.1     Market Risk

The Foundation is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to currency risk, interest rate risk and certain 
other price risks which result from both its operating and investing activities.

(a)     Foreign Currency Sensitivity

Most of the Foundation’s transactions are carried out in Philippine pesos, its functional currency.  Exposures to foreign currency exchange 
rates arise from the Foundation’s AFS financial assets which are primarily denominated in US dollars.  The Foundation also holds US dollar-
denominated cash and cash equivalents.  

To mitigate the Foundation’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Philippine peso cash flows are monitored.  Financial assets denominated in 
US dollars, translated into Philippine pesos at the closing rate amounted to P95.3 million and P77.1 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.

If the Philippine peso had strengthened against the US dollar, with all other variables held constant, excess of revenue over expenditures for the 
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 would have decreased by P1.3 million and P1.5 million, respectively.  Conversely, if the Philippine 
peso had weakened against the US dollar, with all other variables held constant, excess of revenues over expenditures before income tax 
would have been higher by the same amounts.  This sensitivity of the net result for the year assumes a +/-13.5% and +/-17.5% change of 
the Philippine peso/US dollar exchange rate for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  These percentages have been 
determined based on the average market volatility in exchange rates in the previous 12 months.  The sensitivity analysis is based on the 
Foundation’s foreign currency financial instruments held as at the end of reporting period.

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the Foundation’s investment transactions denominated in US dollars.  
Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Foundation’s exposure to foreign currency risk.
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(b)     Interest Rate Sensitivity

The Foundation is exposed to changes in market interest rates through its cash and cash equivalents, financial asset at FVTPL, debt 
securities AFS financial assets and held-to-maturity investments  which are subject to variable interest rates (see Notes 4, 6, 7 and 8).  All 
other financial assets and liabilities have fixed rates.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of excess of revenues over expenditures before income tax for the years in regards to the 
Foundation’s cash and cash equivalents and debt securities AFS financial assets.  These percentages have been determined based on the 
average market volatility rates, using standard deviation, in the previous 12 months, estimated at 95% level of confidence.  The sensitivity 
analysis is based on the Foundation’s financial instruments held at December 31, 2009 and 2008.

   
(c)     Other Price Risk Sensitivity

The Foundation’s market price risk arises from its investments carried at fair value (financial asset at FVTPL and AFS financial assets).  
It manages its risk arising from changes in market prices by monitoring the changes in the market prices of the investments.
 
 For equity securities listed in the Philippines, an average volatility of 88.54% and 121.43% has been observed during 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.  If quoted price for these securities increased or decreased by that amount, fund balance would have changed by P36.6 million 
and P16.5 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.  If quoted price for impaired equity securities increased or decreased by that amount, 
excess of revenues over expenditures before income tax would have changed by P10.3 million and P8.3 million in 2009 and 2008, 
respectively.  

22.2     Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Foundation.  The Foundation is exposed to this risk for various 
financial instruments, for example by granting loans and receivables to partners, placing deposits and investment in bonds.

The Foundation continuously monitors defaults of borrowers and other counterparties, identified either individually or by group, and 
incorporate this information into its credit risk controls.  In addition, loans of the Foundation are collateralized by certain real estate and
chattel mortgages, assignment of inventory and receivable of the respective cooperatives and organizations to mitigate credit risk.

Generally, the maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown on the face of the 
statements of financial position (or in the detailed analysis provided in the notes to the financial statements) as of December 31, 2009 and 
2008, as summarized below.

   2009   2008 
   Reasonably   Effect in   Effect in   Reasonably   Effect in   Effect in
   possible change   revenues over   fund balance   possible change   revenues over   fund balance
   in rate   expenditures   before tax   in rate   expenditures   before tax
      before tax          before tax     

Cash and cash
 equivalents
  PhP   +/- 1.95%   P 287,049  P -    +/- 0.76%  P 128,379  P - 
  USD  +/- 6.03%    70,081   -   +/- 15.38%    94,683   -

Financial asset
 at FVTPL  +/- 6.03%    509,289    -   +/- 15.38%    1,255,524    - 

AFS financial assets
 Debt securities                 
  PhP   +/- 1.95%   -    377,076    +/- 0.76%   -    146,874 
  USD  +/- 6.03%    -     1,669,344  +/- 15.38%    -     10,514,619

Held-to-maturity
 investments  +/- 1.95%               2,101,750               -    +/- 0.76%                 759,308                   - 

  Total   P         2,968,169   P             2,046,420       P          2,237,894   P          10,661,493
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                                                                      Notes                                           2009     2008            

Cash and cash equivalents                                4                                      P    15,915,356  P           17,590,275
Loans and other 
receivable - net                                                 5 190,441,884             192,763,390
Financial asset at FVTPL - net                           6 8,441,087                 8,162,315  
Held-to-maturity investments                            7 107,880,000             100,280,000
AFS financial assets - net                                  8 383,242,975             375,355,478
Project guarantee deposits
and other receivables                                       12                                                 6,427,169                  5,309,518

                                                                                                                                   P 712,348,471  P         699,460,976

The Foundation’s management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired or past due for each reporting date 
are of good credit quality. 

Financial assets past due but not impaired can be shown as follows:

                                                                                                                                          2009    2008            

                    Not more than 6 months                                                                     P                  912,150     P                774,417
                    More than 6 months but not more than one year 454,030             - 
                    More than one year                                                                                            10,993,482               19,264,505

                                                                                                                              P 12,359,662 P            20,038,922

In respect of loans and other receivable, the Foundation is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any 
group of counterparties having similar characteristics.  Loans receivables consist of a large number of borrowers in various geographical areas.  
Based on historical information about borrower default rates, management consider the credit quality of loans receivables that are not past due 
or impaired to be good.

The carrying amount of financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated, that would otherwise be past due or impaired is P2.3 million in 
2009 and P3.7 million in 2008.The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents, FVTPL, AFS financial assets, held-to-maturity investments and project 
guarantee deposits is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.

22.3     Liquidity Risk

The Foundation manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled payments for financial liabilities as well as cash outflows due in a 
day-to-day business.  Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and 
week-to-week basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling 30-day projection.  Long-term liquidity needs for a 6-month and one-year period are 
identified monthly.

The Foundation maintains cash to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 7 to 15 day periods.  Excess cash are invested in short-term 
placements and various equity and debt securities.  

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Foundation’s financial liabilities amounting to P6.0 million and P5.0 million, respectively, have contractual 
maturities of one year from the reporting date.  The contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which approximates the carrying values of 
the liabilities at the reporting date.

1. CATEGORIES AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS  AND LIABILITIES

23.1     Comparison of Carrying and Fair Values

The carrying amounts and fair values of the categories of assets and liabilities presented in the statements of financial position are shown below.
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See Notes 2.4 and 2.7 for a description of the accounting policies for each category of financial instrument.  A description of the 
Foundation’s risk management objectives and policies for financial instruments is provided in Note 22. 

23.2     Fair Value Hierarchy

The Foundation’s investments in FVTPL and AFS are comprised of debt and equity instruments listed in the active market.  Fair value 
measurements of these financial assets were determined directly by reference to published prices quoted in an active market (Level I of the fair 
value hierarchy).

24. FUND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Foundation’s funds are invested in a prudent and professional manner in order to ensure protection of principal fund and achieve stable and 
maximum returns. Investments in both commercial and developmental funds are consistent with the development and social mandate of the 
Foundation.  Minimum investment objective is to maintain the original peso value of the fund.

The Foundation seeks to optimize total return of the investment portfolio through a policy of diversified investments and ensuring check and 
balance in the asset allocation and management of both commercial and development portfolio.
Commercial portfolio investments are managed through external fund managers (Trustee Banks) with the investment parameters approved by 
the Foundation’s BOT.  The commercial investments consist of investments in fixed-income securities and equity investments.  All fixed income 
investments of the Foundation with the Trustee Banks are required to be marketable.  The equity portfolio of Foundation will be confined to listed 
securities to ensure immediate marketability and liquidity compared to unlisted issues.  Commercial investment mix shall be 90:10 fixed income 
assets to equity ratio. 

The Foundation is guided by ethical investment values in the management of commercial investments.  As such, attributes are considered in the 
evaluation of companies based on environmental practices, labor practices, compliance to good governance and social involvement.  
 
Development portfolio investments are managed internally by Foundation’s management consistent with the project selection criteria set by the 
Foundation.  Development portfolio investments consist of project loans, guarantees, equity financing, time deposits, special savings and other 
investments in Community Finance Institutions related to specific projects approved by the BOT.  

The Foundation aims to increase direct investments to the communities to 50% gradually as approved during the 18th general assembly on 
June 6, 2007.

       Notes   2009   2008 
        Carrying Values  Fair Values   Carrying Values  Fair Values 

  Financial assets
   Loans and receivables:
    Cash and cash equivalents 4 P 15,915,356 P 15,915,356 P 17,590,275 P 17,590,275
     Loans and other receivables - net 5  190,441,884  181,629,233  192,763,390  178,038,259
     Other assets - net 12  6,427,169  6,427,169  5,309,518  5,309,518
       P 212,784,409 P 203,971,758 P 215,663,183 P 200,938,052
  Financial assets at FVPL -
   Debt securities  6 P 8,441,087 P 8,441,087 P 8,162,315 P 8,162,315

  Held-to-maturity investments -
   Debt securities  7 P 107,880,000 P 107,880,000 P 100,280,000 P 100,280,000

  Available-for-sale financial assets: 8
   Equity securities   P 39,174,655 P 39,174,655 P 43,371,909 P 43,371,909
   Debt securities    344,068,320  344,068,320  331,983,569  331,983,569
       P 383,242,975 P 383,242,975 P 375,355,478 P 375,355,478

  Financial liabilities
   Financial liabilities at amortized cost:
  Unused project funds 13 P 751,847 P 751,847 P 2,435,056 P 2,435,056
   Accounts payables and 
     other liabilities 14  5,254,847  5,254,847  2,534,277  2,534,277
       P 6,006,694 P 6,006,694 P 4,969,333 P 4,969,333
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